# GENDER AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

A briefing paper by

Minu Hemmati and Rosalie Gardiner

#### The authors

Minu Hemmati has worked with UNED Forum (new name: Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future) as an independent consultant on various projects within the fields of sustainable development, women/gender, stakeholder participation.

Rosalie Gardiner, International Policy Co-ordinator of the Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future, currently working on the preparations for World Summit 2002. Main topics: freshwater, tourism, health, financial aspects of sustainable development.

#### Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future

The Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future, formerly UNED Forum, is a unique multi-stakeholder network and forum on sustainable development which has promoted outcomes from the first Earth Summit in 1992. In the run-up to World Summit 2002, the Stakeholder Forum aims at facilitating the involvement of Major Groups and stakeholders in the policy work of the United Nations and other inter-governmental institutions in the area of sustainable development.

Contact: Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future, c/o United Nations Association UK, 3 Whitehall Court, London SW1A 2EL, United Kingdom, Tel. +44 20 78391784, Fax +44 20 79305893, info@earthsummit2002.org, www.earthsummit2002.org, www.stakeholderforum.org

World Summit Papers of the Heinrich Böll Foundation, No. 10: Gender and Sustainable Development. A briefing paper by Minu Hemmati and Rosalie Gardiner Published by the Heinrich Böll Foundation Printed in Germany, March 2002

© by the authors and the Heinrich Böll Foundation

All rights reserved Production: trigger, Berlin

The following paper does not necessarily represent the views of the Heinrich Böll Foundation.

The paper is part of Stakeholder Forum's Towards Earth Summit 2002 project and was funded with support of the Heinrich Böll Foundation. It was peer reviewed by Stakeholder Forum's International Advisory Board. Particular thanks to the following contributors: Janeen Costa; Irene Dankelman; International Working Group on Women Refugees and Sustainable Development (comments coordinated by Elina Stamou); Toby Middleton; Maria Onestini; Rosey Simonds; Soon-Young Yoon; June Zeitlin. Particular thanks also to Swantje Oldörp for contributing to the research for this paper.

To order this publication:

Heinrich Böll Foundation, Rosenthaler Str. 40/41, 10178 Berlin, Germany. Tel.: ++49 30 285 340; fax: ++49 30 285 34 109, info@boell.de, www.boell.de, www.worldsummit2002.de

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Foreword	5
1. Gender and Sustainable Development	7
2. The Current Situation	8
3. Challenges for gender equity and some solutions	12
3.1 Human rights and conflict	12
3.2 Poverty and development	15
3.3 Health	21
3.4 Gender and environment	22
3.5 Governance	28
4. The way forward	33
5. Resources and references	35
Annex	
Glossary	38
Relevant International Agreements	42
UN Agencies and Intergovernmental Bodies working on women / gender & sustainable development issues: <i>by issues</i>	51
UN Agencies and Intergovernmental Bodies working on women / gender & sustainable development issues: by institutions	53

#### **FOREWORD**

"It's not about simply mainstreaming women. It's not about women joining the polluted stream. It's about cleaning the stream, changing stagnant pools into fresh flowing water." Bella Abzug

The 1992 Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro marked a decisive step in the direction of sustainable development, which has become the model of German environmental and development policy. The international civil society, and specifically international women's movements, ascended to the global political stage in Rio as new political actors who succeeded in exerting significant normative influence on the drafting of summit documents. Emancipating approaches, such as Empowerment and later Gender Mainstreaming as well, were developed and disseminated for the international conferences which followed Rio.

The global conference Rio+10 offers the opportunity to focus on gender-political perspectives in subjecting UN documents to a critical analysis. It will provide an occasion to intensify cooperative action and alliances between global environmental actors and international women's initiatives, and to explore perspectives for future activities.

Working on the world summit process represents a focus of the Heinrich Böll Foundation's activities. Consistent with the Foundation's self-understanding, the concept of gender democracy assumes a central position in this endeavor.

In addition to the Foundation's comprehensive challenge of integrating gender aspects into the conception and implementation of all activities, the theme of gender is the direct focus of a series of projects. In mid-January 2001, for example, the Foundation coorganized the expert conference "Gender Perspectives for Earth Summit 2002 – Energy, Transport, Information for Decision-making." A documentation of that conference is available in German and English. The Heinrich Böll Foundation's key project addressing gender and the earth summit is the development of a Women's Action Agenda for a Healthy and Peaceful Planet 2015. This initiative, undertaken in cooperation with WEDO and REDEH, builds upon the Women's Action Agenda 21, formulated in 1991 in the course of the "First Women's World Congress for a Healthy Planet." The revised version currently being drafted strives to take into account the past decade's farreaching processes of change in identifying an appropriate basis for action, thus allowing environmental interests with a gender perspective to be advanced on the global, national and local levels.

This paper by Minu Hemmati and Rosalie Gardiner provides an excellent overview on the topic of Gender Equity and Sustainable Development. It was commissioned by the Heinrich Böll Foundation from the Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future, published by that body as Social Briefing Paper No. 2, and now appears in our series of World Summit Papers. We would like to express our thanks to the authors for their outstanding work.

Dr. Claudia Neusüß Member of the Executive Board

Jörg Haas Head of Desk for Ecology and Sustainable Development

#### 1. GENDER AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

"Men and women have the right to live their lives and raise their children in dignity, free from hunger and from the fear of violence, oppression or injustice." UN Millennium Declaration

Sustainable development requires the full and equal participation of women at all levels. Women's rights are universal human rights and are protected by international human rights conventions. Also, it is clearly inappropriate to try and address problems, to identify the appropriate strategies, or to implement the solutions if only half of the people concerned are involved in the process. Gender equity is an essential building block in sustainable development. Indeed, none of the three "pillars" of sustainable development can be achieved without solving the prevailing problem of gender inequity:

- Environmental protection requires a solid understanding of women's relationship to environmental resources, as well as their rights and roles in resource planning and management. It also requires acknowledgement and incorporation of women's knowledge of environmental matters, as well as an understanding of the gender specific impacts of environmental degradation and misuse;
- **Economic well-being** requires gender-sensitive strategies. 70 % of the world's estimated 1.3 billion people living in absolute poverty are women. Segmentation of labour markets horizontally and vertically has only marginally improved. Economic well-being of any society cannot be achieved if one group is massively underprivileged compared to the other. Nor can an economy be called healthy without utilising the contributions and skills of all members of society;
- Social equity is fundamentally linked to gender equity. Sexism, racism, discrimination on the grounds of ethnic group, faith, political opinion, social status or sexual orientation are clear indicators of social inequity. No society can survive sustainably, or allow its members to live in dignity, if there is prejudice and discrimination of any social group.

It has also been pointed out that "Gender issues are not the same as women's' issues. Understanding gender means understanding opportunities, constraints and the impacts of change as they affect both men and women" (World Bank). Partnerships and equality between men and women are the basis of strong families and viable societies in a rapidly changing world. Yet misogynistic views lie at the heart of continued discrimination against women. Women have been consistently excluded from decision-making across history and societies. Indeed, in all social groups women are being systematically discriminated against within systems of governance that allow for the dominance of a few social groups to the expense of others. It is such power structures that cause further imbalance, marginalisation, suffering and conflict. Creating greater gender equity will contribute to building peaceful, democratic and prosperous societies.

#### 2. THE CURRENT SITUATION

Global statistics place women behind men in relation to health, education, nutrition levels, political participation, legal rights, equal pay for equal work, amongst many other aspects of life (see Box 1). Gender inequity remains pervasive in all countries of the world. This is both of public concern but also tied to individual behaviour. Generally, the *obstacles to women's full participation in sustainable development and in public life* can be grouped into three categories (Agenda 21, Chapter 24.2.c):

- Constitutional factors, including legal and administrative areas,
- Cultural, social, psychological and behavioural factors,
- Economic factors, including access to and ownership of resources.

#### **BOX 1: BAD NEWS**

#### **Poverty Elimination**

<u>Population</u>: By mid 2000 the world population reached 6.06 billion, growing by 75 million people per year – 95% of this growth is in developing countries. Of the worlds near one billion adults, two-thirds are women.

<u>Poverty</u>: at least 1.3 billion people are living in absolute poverty and 70% of these are women. Extreme poverty, often associated with gender discrimination, is also causally linked to the deaths of millions of women and girls every year. The number of poverty stricken women in rural areas doubled in the last 20 years.

Women are more threatened by poverty than men partly because more households are headed by women without a partner. Women who work in formal employment face greater discriminatory practices in the workplace: they earn less, work in the lowest paid jobs, receive fewer benefits, and are make up the majority of employees in the informal sector.

#### Health

Life expectancy: levels have improved in women faster than men.

<u>HIV/AIDS</u>: In 2000, 1.3 million women died of AIDS and over 16.4 million are currently living with HIV/AIDS. Of those infected with HIV live in Sub-Saharan Africa, 55% are women. In certain African countries 80% of women are unable to protect themselves from unsafe sex. Transmission of HIV is two times higher in women than men. Teenage girls are 5 times more likely to be infected than boys of the same age. Women are also the ones primarily affected as principal caregivers of those people dying of AIDS as well as of AIDS orphans.

<u>Tobacco</u>: The majority of the world's women and girls do not have the right to a clean and safe environment due to exposure to second-hand smoke. Also, as tobacco companies tend to target girls and women, rates of tobacco use by females are soaring, particularly in developing countries. Lung cancer now outranks breast cancer in the United States as the leading cause of cancer deaths among women.

<u>Fertility and family planning</u>: Average fertility has dropped from 4.7 children (in 1970) to 3 (1990-1995). Over half of women of childbearing age use modern contraceptive methods. However, nearly 600,000 women die every year (over 1,600 every day) from complications with pregnancy or delivery, the vast majority in the developing world. Nearly 100,000 maternal deaths are the result of 20 million unsafe abortions that occur every year. 80 million pregnancies are unwanted or unplanned.

<u>Disease</u>: Sexually transmitted diseases are contracted 333 million times each year by women.

#### **Human rights**

<u>Violence and discrimination</u>: continues unabated in many parts of the world. Thousands of "honour killings" take place every year, mainly in Western Asia, North Africa and South Asia. Thousands of women are also subjected to genital mutilation. Some 25,000 women are burned to death each year in India as a result of dowry disputes.

Rape and physical abuse: also on the increase, but many cases go unreported because of the shame and stigma attached. In the USA, one women is battered every 15 seconds, usually by her intimate partner. Every year two million girls, between 5 and 15 years old, are introduced into the commercial sex market. Over 100 million girls suffer genital mutilation every year, resulting in at least 2 million deaths.

<u>Selective abortion</u>: elimination of female foetuses and infanticide of little girls continues. This is particularly true in parts of Asia where parents can now have pregnancies scanned. The results being that in parts of the world men can out number women 5-1. The Nobel-laureate economist Amartya Sen estimates that some 100 million women are lost from the world population as a result of such activities.

<u>Conflict</u>: 80% of the 80 million refugees in the world are women. Rape and sexual violence is increasingly used as a weapon of war.

#### **Education**

<u>Literacy</u>: The disparity between the sexes fell by half between 1970 and 1990, from 54% to 74%. However, of the 880 million who are still illiterate 2/3rds are women and 1 out of every 3 adult women still cannot read or write.

<u>Enrolment</u>: Girls' enrolment in primary and secondary school has increased from 38% to 68% between 1970 and 1990. But girls account for 60% of the 130 million children without access to primary education. Levels of education are lower in rural areas. Even in industrialised countries we find differential treatment in the kinds of subjects that girls are able to study; they continue to be underrepresented in the scientific fields.

<u>Economic growth</u>: World Bank surveys in Kenya, for example, suggested that if women's education were raised to the same level as men, food crop yields would increase by 9-22%, and as much as 25% increase if they were guaranteed primary education.

#### **Finance for development**

<u>Credit</u>: Women have less access to credit, particularly in developing countries. In Latin America and the Caribbean only 7-11% of women are beneficiaries of credit programmes. A study of 38 branches of major banks in India found that only 11% of the borrowers were women. In Zaire women made up only 14% of borrowers from com-

mercial banks. Most banks in developing countries require that borrowers be wage earners or property owners who can provide acceptable collateral. In most countries such borrowers are men.

Employment and self-employment: All too often women are denied positions of responsibility, especially in private sector. The majority of women earn an average of about three-quarters of the pay of males for the same work, outside the agricultural sector, in both developed and developing countries. In most countries, women work approximately twice the unpaid time men do. UNDP estimates on the basis of calculations of the value of women's unpaid and underpaid work, that women contribute \$11 trillion a year from "non-financial" activities that go unreflected in economic accounting.

#### **Political power**

Government: The number of women ministers has doubled in past ten years. However, they make up just over 14% of the total number of government ministers, with 9.4 % in the legal area and less than 5% in economic, political and executive positions. Only 28 women have been elected heads of state and government in the last century. The total percentage of women in parliaments is 12.7%.

Sources: World Bank 2001; Haq 1997; HDR 1995

Barriers of the first category particularly require government action, such as reviewing and changing policies and practices that discriminate against women as well as developing legislation and setting up institutional mechanisms for the advancement of women and girls. Obstacles of the second category are more complex. They can require fundamental changes in values, institutions and individual behaviour. Such changes can be initiated by governments – through legislation, educational curricula, public campaigns – but also require concerted efforts of all stakeholders. Economic barriers can be viewed as a result of the constitutional and social barriers. Again, a concerted effort by all stakeholders, including governments, is necessary to change political conditions and market economies.

Within the UN Summit processes, the international community has, among others, identified the following priority issues, providing an important framework for achieving gender equality in sustainable development:

- Women's human rights and control over their lives;
- Poverty eradication;
- Women's access to, control and management of resources and services;
- The impacts of globalisation;
- Finance for development;
- Health, including reproductive and environmental health.

The international commitments made during the Summit meetings also defined a number of gender-related *International Development Targets*. These offer a significant test of how far we have progressed in terms of gender equity at the global level. Governments committed to a number of targets including a general target on gender equality,

but also targets towards: elimination of gender disparity (in primary and secondary education); the empowerment of women; as well as assessment of commitments from past and ongoing international processes e.g. the Beijing Conference on Women and its follow-up, the CEDAW process (Convention Against the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination Against Women), and so on. Whilst these commitments suggest increased international recognition of the importance of gender equity, we are faced by continued inequity in all countries in a number of areas.

## 3. CHALLENGES FOR GENDER EQUITY AND SOME SOLUTIONS

This paper addresses a small number of gender-sensitive issues that need to be taken into account by policy-makers and stakeholders working on solutions to the urgent economic, political, social, and environmental problems we face. The range of women / gender and sustainable development issues is much wider; in fact, the majority of sustainable development issues need a gender mainstreaming approach.

#### 3.1 Human rights and conflict

"Violence against women is perhaps the most shameful human rights violation. It knows no boundaries of geography, culture or wealth. As long as it continues, we cannot claim to be making real progress towards equality, development, and peace."

UN Secretary General Kofi Annan, 2001

The rights to life, equality, dignity and freedom are human rights. They are not only supported in the UN Charter 1944 but also in agreements such as the Convention on the Elimination of All Kinds of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) which obliges governments to take action against discriminatory practices; the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966); the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; and the Geneva Convention on Refugees (1951) together with its additional 1967 Protocol that protects displaced people who are forced to leave their homes in search for a better place. ICPD in 1994 and the Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing in 1995 also set specific goals in achieving women's rights and gender equity. Yet numerous factors continue to undermine women's rights and freedom.

Violence against women causes more deaths and disabilities among women aged 15 to 44 than cancer, malaria, traffic accidents or war (World Bank Discussion Paper No 255). Statistics on the numbers of abuses of women's rights do little to describe the terror that permeates the lives of women that survive situations of extreme poverty, conflict and violence, or the psychological abuse and degradation that comes with such experiences. Violence towards women is often greater in situations of conflict and displacement while it is more accepted in some cultures that in others. Being subjected to violence means that women are more at risk of contracting STDs, unwanted pregnancies, unsafe abortions, psychological and physical problems, and persistent gynaecological difficulties.

#### Gender and human security

Perhaps the most significant area undermining human security is the impact of internal and cross-border conflicts. The consequences of conflict for communities are enormous, affecting women, children, the elderly and the disabled the most. Civilian victims, often outnumber casualties among combatants. Women and girls are particularly affected because of their status in society. They suffer violence, displacement, loss of home and property, poverty, family separation, loss or involuntary disappearances of relatives, murder, and terrorism. Among the increasing numbers of refugees and involuntary displaced people that are forced to migrate within and across counties, the majority are

women, adolescent girls and children. Tactics of war include rape, forced prostitution and forced pregnancy. Lifelong social, economic and psychological trauma are common long-term consequences. The huge environmental impacts of conflict further destabilise communities and negatively impact the chances of long-term sustainability. People living in poverty, particularly women, are also heavily affected by military spending because it sucks vital human and financial resources away from pressing social, educational and alternative economic needs. Some \$ 800 billion per year is spent globally to keep up with the arms race and increase military spending.

In its resolution on Women and peace and security (No. 1325, 2000) the UN Security Council has underlined the vital importance of gender issues in human security, conflict and conflict resolution, and "invites the Secretary-General to carry out a study on the impact of armed conflict on women and girls, the role of women in peace-building and the gender dimensions of peace processes and conflict resolution, and further invites him to submit a report to the Security Council on the results of this study and to make this available to all Member States of the United Nations" (ibid). Women can indeed play a very positive role in conflict resolution, reconstruction and development. They become the sole managers of households, the sole parent, and caretaker of elderly or injured combatants. They also play a significant role in preserving social order in the midst of conflict. Refugee, internally displaced and migrant women often display extraordinary strength, endurance and resourcefulness whether in the country of origin or the country of settlement. Notwithstanding such contribution, women's priorities, both in countries suffering from armed conflict and countries of settlement, continue to be largely marginalised. Male leaders tend to dominate negotiations seeking to end war and lay the foundations of peace and development. But women need to be appropriately involved in such decisions that affect them. They have begun to play an important role in conflict resolution, peace-keeping, reconstruction and development, defence and foreign affairs mechanisms.

- <u>Culture of peace</u>: Women's' advocacy groups are at the forefront of campaigning for a reduction in military spending and trading and an end to the arms race, as well as reducing the availability of armaments. At grassroots and community levels women have organised to resist militarisation, and to create space for dialogue and moderation. Women's commitment to peace remains critical to ensuring the durability of peace and effective implementation of peace agreements.
- International rule of law: Conflict decreases gender equity but also prevents the conditions needed for building peace and justice, nor is it likely to lead to a path for sustainable development. The lives of women and their families have to be protected in situations of armed and other conflicts, and the incidence of human rights abuse in conflict situations must be reduced. This will require the international ratification and further implementation of agreements that regulate the arms race and that protect humanitarian rights. Amongst these are the Geneva Convention on the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (1949), and its additional protocols (1977) that seeks to ensure women are especially protected against any attack on their honour, particularly against degrading treatment, rape, enforced prostitution or any form of indecent assault; the International Convention for the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination Against Women and the Geneva Convention on Refugees (1951) together with its additional Protocol (1967). As the World Conference on Human Rights in Vienna, 1995, decided; "violations of human rights of women in

situations of armed conflicts are violations of the fundamental principles of international human rights and humanitarian law".

- Participation, training and education: Women's full participation in peace keeping, military power structures, conflict resolution, reconstruction and development is crucial. Also, peace that upholds justice, tolerance and sustainable development. Programmes that strengthen the leadership and peace-making skills of women should be promoted, such as UNIFEM's regional project on "Women for Conflict Resolution and Peace Building in the Southern Caucasus" funded by the UN Foundation. The project supports women's efforts to transform conflict to peace-building by enabling women's vision, strategies and skills to be reflected in the peace and sustainable human development process, as well as sharing of knowledge at the grassroots level. Capacity building of women and NGOs, particularly those working on refugee women's issues, to influence peace negotiations at community and national levels, and the networking and dialogue among women leaders should also be supported. Furthermore, it is essential to support refugee, migrant and internally displaced women in their efforts to build their lives and those of their communities in both countries of origin and settlement. It is also crucial for the cultivation of a culture that embraces social diversity to fund research and introduce educational programmes, training of public officials and public awareness campaigns on the positive role of refugee, migrant and internally displaced women in sustainable development.
- Mainstreaming gender: A gender perspective is needed in all policies and programmes for peace building, relief and rehabilitation programmes. Before military and peace-keeping decisions are taken, analyses should be made of the differing impacts on women and men respectively. The relationship between the social and physical consequences of conflicts should receive direct attention from national and international levels and amongst the military system. The role that women play in maintaining social security at community level, and in contributing positively to regions or countries of resettlement or to their countries of origin on their return, should be internationally recognised.

Sources: Women's Action Agenda for a Health and Peaceful Planet 2002-2015, 1<sup>st</sup> Draft, October 2001; UNIFEM 2000; International Working Group on Women Refugees and Sustainable Development.

## BOX 2: MEN'S ACTIVITIES TOWARDS GENDER EQUITY: PREVENTING VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN

"Indeed, men must work to confront what should be described as men's violence against women, and recognise and respect the equal role and rights of women. When it comes to violence against women, there are no grounds for tolerance and no tolerable excuses."

UN Secretary General Kofi Annan, 20 November 2001

One example of a male orientated initiative is the White Ribbon Campaign (WRC), WRC's goal is to sensitise and mobilise men and institutions against violence against women; to increase the understanding of male identity; and to educate young people. WRC encourages reflection and discussion that leads to personal and collective action among men. It urges men to take responsibility to work with women to end men's vio-

lence. They do educational work in schools, workplaces and communities; support local women's groups, including fund-raising; and raise money for national educational efforts.

<u>History</u>: Near the end of 1991, a handful of men in Ontario and Quebec decided they had a responsibility to urge men to speak out against violence against women. Crimes committed by other men should not only be of concern to women. They decided that a white ribbon - worn during the week leading up to the second anniversary of the massacre of 14 women at the Université de Montreal engineering school - would be a symbol of men's opposition to men's violence against women. After only six weeks preparation, without any organisational structure, perhaps as many as one hundred thousand men across Canada wore a white ribbon. In addition, hundreds of thousands of men were drawn into discussion and debate on the issue of men's violence. Since then, the WRC has become an ongoing campaign, and wearing a white ribbon is a personal pledge never to commit, condone nor remain silent about violence against women.

<u>Contact</u>: The White Ribbon Campaign. Men Working To End Men's Violence Against Women. 365 Bloor Street East, Suite 1600, Toronto, Ontario M4W 3L4. E-Mail: whiterib@idirect.com. European network at www.eurowrc.org and human rights education should start at an early age and be integrated into all educational systems, to foster a culture of peace.

#### 3.2. Poverty and Development

The Human Development Report (HDR) in 1995 said that *poverty has a women's face*, indeed looking at the 1.3 billion people living in poverty, 70% are women (Haq 1997). However, when one looks at domestic and international architecture for development we find that economic inequality between men and women is widening. And whilst globalisation has brought some women greater economic opportunities and autonomy, it has further marginalised others. Institutions need to do substantially more to meet these problems. As the HDR precisely explained "*Human development, if not engendered, is endangered*".

#### Gender and work

Women make essential contributions to economic development, household income, and otherwise in the world of work. Research has shown that with independent income of women improves gender relations as much as it helps ensure survival in cases of male migration, separation or widowhood. However, all too often women go underrecognised, under-paid, face poor conditions and face limited opportunities for improvement. They are also shouldering the double burden of work hours outside and inside the home. A study of the household division of labour in Bangladeshi villages found on average women worked almost 12 hours a day, as compared to 8 - 10 hours for men in the same villages. In many regions, women spend up to 5 hours a day collecting fuel-wood and water, and up to 4 hours preparing food. In Africa and Asia, women work about 13 hours more than men each week. In Southeast Asia, women provide up to 90 % of the labour for rice cultivation. In Africa, women do 90 % of the work of gathering water and wood, for the household and for food preparation. In the world's

least developed countries, 23 % of rural households are headed by women (FAO 2001). Box 3 indicates some of the current trends in different sectors but the picture is similar.

#### **BOX 3: WOMEN AT WORK: AN OVERVIEW OF DIFFERENT SECTORS**

#### Agriculture; plantations; other rural sectors

Women make up 51 % of the agricultural labour force worldwide but in many countries, women's extensive contribution to agricultural output remains largely unrecorded. The regional distribution of the economically active population in agriculture is dominated by Asia, which accounts for almost 80% of the world's total followed by Africa with 14%. In Sub-Saharan Africa 80% of economically active women are working in the agricultural sector. The share of female agricultural labourers is rising rapidly in all countries, save in Eastern and Central Europe where high levels are falling.

#### Forestry; wood; pulp and paper

Total forestry employment represents about 1% of total world employment. While waged employment is largely a male domain, with women rarely exceeding 10% of the workforce, subsistence employment is dominated by women in many developing countries.

#### Mining (coal + other)

Upwards of 13 million people engage in small-scale mining, including significant numbers of women and children, and affects the livelihoods of 80-100 million people. Nonfatal accident rates are routinely 6 - 7 times higher than in larger operations, even in industrialised countries. To improve this situation the ILO held a tripartite meeting on social and labour issues in small-scale mining in May 1999. The meeting's report "Social and labour issues in small-scale mines" contains a chapter focused on women in small-scale mining.

#### Textiles; clothing; leather; footwear

International competition has led to pressures on the formal sector to replace full-time permanent contracts with fixed-term, part-time and temporary ones. Subcontracts with smaller firms, often from the informal sector, are growing as small enterprises have recourse to home workers who offer optimal flexibility. However, these factors make employment more precarious, especially among women workers who constitute the bulk of unskilled workers and home workers. These groups (mainly women) face increasing pressure to accept poor working conditions and lower wages in order to maintain their jobs.

#### Transport Equipment (TE), manufacture

The TE industries are increasingly shifting to flexible work times and rules. Rising shares of part-time and temporary jobs, held mainly by women, characterise the TE sector workforce, particularly in industrialised countries. The percentage of women in the TE workforce has grown significantly, but in lower paid jobs than those held by men. In several OECD countries and some upper-middle-income countries, workers have made concessions on earnings in order to preserve a measure of job security.

#### Food; drink; tobacco

Women make up a large proportion of low-skilled and low-paid jobs in these industries, and there has been little progress in this regard in many countries. Rapid technological changes have affected the jobs of many workers, a large majority of them being women. These workers need training and retraining to keep up with changing skill requirements. Women are widely subject to discriminatory treatment in remuneration and conditions of employment, including opportunities for training and promotion.

#### Hotels; tourism; catering

In many countries, greater numbers and new forms of tourism are emerging, offering increasing numbers of jobs. However, working conditions are often not up to standard, especially for unskilled labour, which mostly includes women, children and casual labour. Even in formal areas of the profession women tend to receive lower remuneration and less prestigious jobs.

#### **Health services**

In many countries the workforce of the health sector is predominantly female. However, women remain at the bottom of hierarchies in terms of authority, remuneration, and qualification. Though legally accorded equal treatment in many countries, most women tend to work in lower-paying jobs, requiring lower qualifications, e.g. the nursing professions rather than medical doctors' positions, and in the same professions they tend to receive lower remuneration and less prestigious jobs.

#### Postal and other Communication services

Privatisation and restructuring are in fact often accompanied by staff retrenchment and redeployment. The decline of employment in telecommunications is largely seen in traditional activities such as building, installation, repair, and maintenance of central office switching equipment, as well as cable and line jobs. The employment of women has been particularly endangered by technological change, as many of them are telephone operators and clerical workers.

#### **Public service**

Many governments claim there is no gender discrimination in the public service, and indeed the public sector is the largest employer of women. However, most women work in clerical jobs and few enter middle or top-management positions. Promotion in the public service depends mainly on seniority, to the detriment of workers with family responsibilities who need career breaks. This has led to the introduction of quotas and revision of gender-biased selection procedures. Contrarily, the fact that the public service can offer better employment opportunities to women than the private sector, has made women more vulnerable to public spending cuts. Women may also receive unequal access to compensatory programmes, such as retraining and job placement. More positively the trend towards decentralisation in many countries may benefit women who are often more numerous in local, rather than central, government.

#### Commerce

Employment and working conditions can be highly precarious, due mainly to the predominance of small firms in commerce, with cost-cutting and flexibility-seeking strategies. There is a high incidence of non-remunerated and part-time work, uncertain working times, high mobility and casual work, low training and retraining, and high participation of youth and women used for flexible labour. In the European Union, over a quarter of retail workers have part-time jobs, and nearly 60% are women. Women accumulate the disadvantages since they tend to be concentrated in retail, lower status and lower-paid, casual jobs.

#### **Education**

Women teachers and trainers make up the majority in primary and secondary education. Where they are in the minority (Africa and South Asia, and in technical education everywhere) increased recruitment of female teachers has a direct bearing on female access to education and career development.

Source: ILO 2001

Women remain the invisible workforce in global production chains, where they dominate as house-workers and temporary labour. Up to 90% of house-workers are women. They machine garments, weave cloth, solder electronics, process food, make parts for cars, or pack goods. Two incomes are often vital to pull a family out of poverty. Women turn to home-based work precisely because it is flexible, it can be combined with child-care and/or agricultural work. For women with young children it is often the only option of income generation. However, international competition on producers also increases the pressure to cut costs and take advantage of such flexible workers. Women are typically denied basic working rights, such as including minimum wages, regular work. To tackle such issues, the private sector, domestically and internationally, needs to further acknowledge the existence of flexible and home workers in terms of the contribution they make to production, including:

- Supporting home-based workers' organisations and ensuring they are consulted in the development of codes of practice;
- Ensuring such codes incorporate the home workers' entitlement to basic employment rights;
- Ensuring that women home workers, the poorest of all, do not lose out due to moves that aim to improve conditions in global production chains;
- Supporting independent women's collectives who can market their own products, reducing consumer dependence on large wholesalers, traders and merchants;
- Establishing appropriate facilities e.g. child care facilities;
- Ensuring adequate education and training for women (and men) to aid employment opportunities;
- Increasing the number of qualified women in growing sectors, such as Information Technologies, by investing in accessible education and training for women;
- Increasing women employees' and associations' access to credit.

Governments could also undertake greater steps to improve gender equity at work. They have a strong role in formulating and implementing legislation but also they are major

employers. They thus have a powerful role of leading by example. Particular activities include the following areas:

- Legislation: The ILO conventions and principles also talk about a key government role in ensuring minimum labour standards for women. ILO standards include aspects relating to training, promotion, wages, family and maternity rights, as well as against discrimination in the work place (see conventions link). However, many of these principles continue to lack adequate resources and capacity to be effectively implemented, monitored and regulated, and this needs to substantially enhanced by the international community in developing, transitional and industrial countries alike.
- Education, training and capacity building: Women constitute two-thirds of the world's illiterates. However, studies repeatedly show that educating women and girls not only raises their employability but also benefits every development index. Denying them education slows growth. Access to information, education and training improves gender equity and benefits women's economic opportunities. Promoting girls' self esteem should be part of education for girls and boys, as a healthy feeling of self worth is the basis of individual initiative in the family, in the community, and at the workplace. As mothers, women are in most cases the first educators of their children who will benefit from the literacy and high education of their mothers. Economic returns on investment in women's education also outweigh those benefits for men. Education increases their opportunities to engage in development but furthermore the health gains from education include reduced fertility and improvements to maternal mortality. Learning needs to be a life long process and therefore requires a range of formal and informal modes of education across all age groups.

#### Development assistance programmes and structural adjustment

"We know there can be no enduring peace without development. We also know there can be no development unless women play their full part." UN Secretary General Kofi Annan, 6 March 2000

Multi-lateral and bilateral programmes designed to provide development assistance need to adopt a gender mainstreaming approach. This is not only because women have a right to be a part of the process but also because better integration of gender concerns bears considerable economic and developmental benefits (see Box 4). Whilst development can assist gender equity through improvements to infrastructure (water, energy, transport), economic growth in itself will not eliminate gender inequalities. Societies need to actively promote women's rights and gender equality along with growth.

Gender mainstreaming should include a package of components, including use of assessments, training, gender disaggregated data, as well as gender-targeted strategies and action. Assessments of the respective impacts on women and men will assist policy makers when formulating development strategies, and help minimise the negative impacts of widening power and resource gaps between women and men. For example, cutting back of public services through progressive privatisation has been to shown to have particularly negative impacts on women (e.g. Tsikata 1995). The World Bank's Poverty Reduction Strategies (PRSs), should also address their gender impact. Since PRSs re-

quire the participation of stakeholders in their formulation and are meant to be designed at the national level, one would expect women to be well represented. However, representation requires active encouragement and thorough assessment to ensure it does indeed take place in the PRS process. This means:

- Stating realistic programme expectations to avoid frustration and cynicism among participants;
- Sufficient time to ensure proper participation or consultation;
- Adequate dissemination of information, in an accessible style and language;
- Representation transparency over the selection criteria for participants, ensuring that the poorest and most marginalised groups are represented;
- Follow-up and feedback and allowing the process to go through to its conclusion.

Other tools that can be applied include gender training. Gender trainers can help to transform the attitudes of both women and men resistant to gender equity in public and private contexts, as well as improve the skills of women to participate more effectively in development programmes and policy formulation (IDS 2001). It should also be noted that PRSs are targeted at the heavily indebted and least developed countries, gendermainstreaming strategies also needs to be commonly applied in other development processes.

#### **BOX 4: BENEFITS OF GENDER EQUITY AND COSTS OF INEQUITY**

<u>Working wages</u>: In agricultural production, it's estimated from studies in Kenya that greater financial support to women farmers as well as men would increase their yields by more than 20%. In Latin America raising women's wage to the same as their male counterparts would increase national output by 5 %.

<u>Health care and diet</u>: as much as 30% of economic growth may be attributable to better health and nutrition. Cuts in health services affect the poor most acutely and as the heaviest users of these services women are impacted most greatly. According to UNAIDS, the HIV/AIDS pandemic will cost an estimated \$1 billion a year in prevention and care alone. Increased female mortality represents more than a personal and family tragedy, it has significant economic and social consequences. The WHO estimates that by 2020, there will be 8.4 million deaths per year, 70 percent of which will occur in developing countries. Tobacco-related diseases and deaths contribute to the impoverishment of families. Women's early deaths are damaging their children's education and hamper the father's ability to hold the family together.

Reproductive health: The Asian 'Tiger States' benefited from early investments in health and education, especially for women. Fertility fell rapidly in 1980's and many countries were able to reap a "demographic bonus". Some analyses suggest 30% of the economic growth in the region during this period was attributable to changes in mortality and fertility.

<u>Violence</u>: Sexual assault and violence take away almost one in five years of "healthy" life from women (15-44 years of age). In the US employers pay an estimated \$4 billion

a year in absenteeism, increased health care expenses, higher turner and lower productivity. Other costs include policing, compensation for criminal injury, victim assistance, counselling costs, and income assistance to affected families.

<u>Education</u>: In countries where the ratio of female to male primary or secondary education is less than 0.75, GNP per capita is found to be roughly 25% lower than in countries where the ratio is higher. Economic returns on investment in women's education are found to be greater than for men. A 1% increase in female secondary education can result in a 0.3% increase in economic growth.

Source: World Bank 2001

#### Sources of finance

Women need credit, but the amount and form in which they need it must be deconstructed and understood in the context of their lack of basic property rights as individuals. Lack of monetary income, land, and other property in their own name, alongside limited education prevents women from accessing credit. Numerous groups of women across the globe have begun to form organisations not only to increase their ability to obtain credit but also to obtain land as corporate bodies. The positive impact of microcredit through women's associations demonstrates the benefits of enabling women to have access to resources and control over their lives. The Grameen Bank (founder: Mohammed Yunus, Bangladesh) has proven to work in this way for women. Although not without problems, the banks provide access to credit without the need for collateral – guarantees are principally based on groups pledging for all group members. Over 90 % of micro-credit goes to women, and the payback averages around 98%.

Private business and banks, both domestic and international, can actively promote investment, credit and venture capital financing of gender-based development activities. Also NGO's and CBO's can assist the allocation of fund to women's' groups and associations of women as well as training of women's in sound financial management practices. Governments, international and bilateral donors can do a significant amount by investing in essential public services that improve gender equity, including funds for reproductive health care, life long learning and training, access to credit, tax relief and grant-based projects and programmes. Legislation regarding property rights and inheritance also needs to be made equitable. New techniques, such as gender budget analysis, would provide a means of assessing the contribution of government finance to gender equity in all countries, and across government departments, and it would aid strategic and long term budget planning which is targets improvements on gender equity (see Glossary). Fundamentally, they need to tackle poverty head on through cancellation of debt in the most indebted countries, substantial increases in Official Development Assistance to ensure that the basic needs of the poorest, particularly women at met, as well as seeking greater and new forms of development finance.

#### 3.3 Health

A key driver for sustainable development is the maintenance of good health. However, women in developing countries and poor communities are often the last to receive necessary care and attention. In terms of reproductive health, social attitudes and behaviour have increased the risk of infections and death. Women are typically infected by their

partner and someone they know, and in many parts of the world it remains unacceptable for women to say 'No' to sex. Also, transmission of sexually transmitted diseases (STDs) can be greater in women, e.g. the risk of infection from HIV is twice as high in women than men. Misconceptions around infection lead to even further risk. For example, some communities believe that virginity will cure HIV, resulting in younger and younger girls being forced into unsafe sex with infected men. Recent cases have been reported of baby girls as young as 18 months old being used in this way. Social stigma of rape, physical violence and sex trafficking all put women at further risk. Key activities to improve reproductive health and health in general include:

- <u>Universal rights and access to care</u>: More equal power relations between men and women and the fundamental respect for reproductive rights, combined with increased access to good reproductive health care would save the lives of hundreds of thousands of women. Universal access to sexual and reproductive health care is a central aim of the ICPD programme of action, and indeed many countries have expanded their services to meet broader women and men's health need. Other priorities are preventing unwanted pregnancies, preventing, detecting and treating breast, cervical and ovarian cancer, osteoporosis and STDs, through improved family planning, sexual and nutritional health, tobacco quitting programmes for parents, education and better access to contraception. Effective post-abortion care would reduce maternal mortality by more than 1/5<sup>th</sup> in low-income countries.
- Partnerships in reproductive health: Cooperation such as between local governments, NGO's and CBO's can bring about major shifts in population and development programmes, working for gender equality and engaging in advocacy and policy formulation. In Bangladesh, for example, 25% of the reproductive health activities are carried out by NGOs. This support is particularly significant were public sector investment in health is limited.
- <u>Education</u>: Research indicates that one third of the increase in male and female life expectancy between 1960 and 1990 are attributable to improvements in education for women. The wide gains obtained from investing in health education clearly outweigh the financial costs and therefore require concerted domestic and international efforts to build up health related educational programmes and facilities. NGOs and the private health sector also have a key role to play in building public awareness. (Sources: UNIFEM; UNFPA)

#### 3.4 Gender and Environment

Many of the links between gender and environment are tied to production and consumption patterns, which in turn are linked to access and control of resources. As women are poorer than men in most societies, they are suffering most from a lack of basic necessities. Moreover, the lower the income of women the less rights they tend to have as consumers, in terms of access to essential goods, choice, safety, information, representation, redress, consumer education and a healthy environment (see Box 5). Poor women are less likely to be literate and therefore especially limited in their consumption choices, making them vulnerable to unethical practices such as higher prices and fraudulent services.

#### **BOX 5: WOMEN, ENVIRONMENT AND HEALTH: PESTICIDES**

UNEP estimates accidental poisoning from exposure to pesticides causes 20,000 deaths and 1 million illnesses worldwide every year. Pesticide use and exposure among women is a central issue for a sustainable future. To understand the gender implications it is helpful to consider:

- the differential use of pesticide between men and women during agricultural production;
- the unique health impacts to women;
- the extent of information about pesticides available to each gender.

Women farmers and workers are frequently exposed to dangerous pesticides directly when working as pesticide applicators – ILO reports show that agricultural workers run two times of the risk of dying on the job than other workers. Pesticides threaten not only women agricultural workers but also excessive domestic exposure can be widespread. Studies in the US show 75% of homes contain the pesticide – Chlordane – in the breathable air. Impacts to women in terms of reproductive health include greater incidences of miscarriages, stillbirths and delayed pregnancy, increased incidence of birth defects. Other effects include potential carcinogenic effects – to breast, brain, prostate, testes and ovaries. One extreme example is DDT, once widely used for controlling insect pests on agricultural crops. DDT is highly persistent in the natural environment. It accumulates through the food chain and has been proven to cause cancer in laboratory animals. It also increases the risk of breast cancer and an infant feeding on breast milk can receive up to 12 times the acceptable limit of DDT. DDT is now illegal in many countries but it is still used in certain countries as it is a cheaper than less persistent alternatives.

Key problems, which increase the potential risks from pesticide use, includes the storage of pesticides in homes. Also women pesticide applicators may be unable to read instructions and so fail to carry out basic precautions, such as wearing protective clothing. Basic means of safety and hygiene protection, such as washing facilities may seem costly measures to introduce. There are even reports in some countries of pesticide containers being re-used for storing and transporting crops. Also agriculture is often excluded from national labour laws and not subject to any international standards.

Chapter 14 of Agenda 21 recommends increased awareness of sustainable agriculture methods in women's groups. In particular, governments should disseminate more information to farming households encouraging "reduced use of agricultural chemicals", as well as train women's groups, farmers and other agents in alternative non-chemical ways of controlling pests. Wider use of traditional practices for pest control should not be overlooked. Research and training of farmers to reduce pesticides have been successful in a number of countries e.g. In Indonesia a programme reduced pesticide use in rice by 65% while yields increased 12%. Women's networks and associations can further encourage the use of Integrated Pest Management systems, that seek to both reduce pesticide use and increase profitability of agricultural production e.g. throughout Asia "Field Schools" help farmers to develop integrated skills and do much to encourage women's participation. NGOs, like the Environment and Development Action Network (ENDA) in Africa and "Mama 86" in Ukraine, research into natural methods to protect

crops and farmers as well as the environment, and work directly with women's groups to encourage these practices. The new Protocol on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPS) also seeks to eliminate the most environmentally unsound chemicals from pesticide production, however once legislative frameworks are in place at the national level, they need to be properly enforced. Policy recommendations:

- Further research into the impacts of pesticides on women and men.
- Further outreach, training and education of women' organisations on pesticide use and alternative methods.
- Strengthening local organisations to continue support work on integrated farming and pest management programmes.
- Occupational health and safety should be upper-most priorities, alongside addressing environmental health issues in the private sphere, such as indoor air pollution, secondhand smoke, etc.
- Further research is needed into the impact of globalisation on increased exposure of women and girls, such as bidi workers, to pesticides during processing/manufacture of agriculture produce.
- Further implementation and enforcement of key international agreements (e.g. POPs).

Source: WEDO 2000

#### Environmental equity

Environmental degradation tends to be concentrated in the poorest regions. For example, deforestation is concentrated in developing countries (HDR 1998; UNDP World Energy Assessment 2000). Although processes at international and national levels cause such over-consumption, it is poor women in developing countries who bear the heaviest burden of environmental degradation (e.g. Dankelman & Davidson 1988). These women typically lack *access to essential resources* but at the same time they are responsible for food, fuel and safe water supply. Environmental loss and degradation considerably increase women's workloads in obtaining these essential resources. This increased pressure also places heavy emotional and psychological burdens on women and family relationships. The increase in time and energy required to carry out essential tasks further limits women's development opportunities means they can dedicate significantly less of resources toward educational and income generating activities. Lack of access to modern cooking and heating technologies can also force women into unsustainable use of natural resources.

Property rights over key resources, such as women's access, control and management of land, are crucial drivers of sustainable development. Better management of these resources contribute to ecological diversity, productivity for human sustenance, as well as economic growth. However, women and men's relationship to these resources has historically differed. For example, in most parts of the world, patrilineal inheritance customs mean that private control of land falls into the ownership of men. Women are further disadvantaged because the land can produce capital, e.g. land title deeds are used to secure loans and credit. To tackle this, international agreements targeting gender equity, adequate shelter and land rights, such as in the Beijing Platform for Action, the Habitat Agenda and its review (Istanbul+5), the 1997 and 1998 resolutions of the UN Sub-

Commission on the Prevention of Discrimination and the Protection of Minorities, still need to be fully implemented. Governments need to realise their promises, develop appropriate policies and allocate sufficient resources. Developing countries should receive assistance to carry this out, in the form of official development aid and further debt relief. Governments and NGOs should also collaborate in building support networks for grassroots women on equal land rights. Both women and men should be involved in the grassroots campaigns for equal gender rights, to overcome historical inequities through a reflective social process. Best practices of women's equal access to and control of land and other resources should be collected and disseminated. The training of paralegal advisers on women's land rights should be supported and extended.

#### Freshwater

In developing countries, women are responsible for supplying freshwater for the household and agricultural activities of their families and communities, as a result of traditional gender roles. The impact of increasing freshwater scarcity has obliged women and girls to travel longer distances and spend many hours waiting to fill their water buckets. Since reproductive tasks go hand in hand with family health care, women also take the necessary environmental control measures to deal with water-borne diseases (e.g. boiling or chlorinating water). Women deal with utilising and conserving water resources on a daily basis and have considerable expertise and experience regarding water management. Despite this, in many cases, women are not in control nor participate in decision-making structures relating to water systems.

Environmental policies and programmes in areas such as freshwater resources management have differential gender impacts. In addition, contaminated water has resulted in reproductive health problems including birth defects and lack of food for women and their families, particularly affecting poor women living in under-serviced urban areas. UNICEF water-related programmes involving women have achieved positive health results. The neglect of the sanitation needs of young female students leads to girls dropping out from school, while exclusion of women from education opportunities and from managerial and administrative functions has often resulted in the installation of facilities that do not suit their requirements or take advantage of their potential as managers and operators.

Although often overlooked by policymakers, women have been involved in planning and decision-making for management of freshwater resources, frequently at the forefront of implementing programmes designed to get authorities to solve problems with water services. Women in the Ukraine, Bangladesh, Russia, as well as in Mexico, other Latin American and African countries, for example women have fought for equitable water and sanitation provision in urban and rural areas. They have banded together and in some cases mobilised communities and resources to highlight urgent problems at industrial hot spots as well as help conserve and protect their supplies of clean, accessible water. The UN Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD) 1998 Report contends that "gender-inequitable governance and decision-making structures do not produce the most effective and sustainable solutions to the water crisis". It successfully integrates a gender perspective into many of its recommendations to governments, the international community and stakeholders such as industry. The Ministerial Declaration of The Hague on Water Security in 21st Century (March 2000) emphasised

the need to empower women, use their skills and respond to their needs in water resources management. At the Second World Water Forum in The Hague, the Gender and Water Workshop, attended by 500 people, agreed to establish a Gender and Water Alliance. The Alliance, comprising a large membership from NGOs, women's groups, governments, intergovernmental bodies, and other stakeholders is now active, and representing women & water concerns in various fora, such as at the International Freshwater Conference, Bonn, December 2001 (Coordinator: Jennifer Francis, Francis@IRC.NL). Recommendations developed by women in various fora include:

- Water should be managed in a way that reflects its economic, social, environmental
  and cultural values for all its uses, and countries should move towards pricing water
  services to reflect the cost of their provision. Special attention should be paid to the
  poor, to the role, skills and needs of women and to vulnerable areas such as small island states, landlocked countries and desertified areas.
- Sustainable integrated water resources management must be based on gender balanced, transparent and accountable decision-making structures at all levels representing all stakeholders, and take full account of the special roles, responsibilities and burdens of women, in particular in ensuring household food security.
- "Listening centres" should be established to engage the public in discussions about water: access, price, quantity and quality, and transmit their views of participatory decision-making structures.
- Support should be given to those governments that do not have statistical information on the percentage of their population without access to safe water.
- Gender analysis must be incorporated into all research, problem diagnosis, information and monitoring networks and formulation of solutions and actions at all levels.
- Investments should be made in improved data collection on public health, including more long-term epidemiological studies and more dissemination of clear and useful information about the environmental links to health problems.
- The approach to problem-solving has to be participatory and community based, so
  that new technology and management systems to alleviate the workload of women
  supplying water, do not lead to further diminishing the status of women in the family and the community.
- Knowledgeable local women should fully participate in developing and implementing education programmes and information services on water management. Equal access for women and girls to education and training programs must be ensured. A gender and age-sensitive approach should be used to train local health officials about specific substances to which the local population has been or is likely to be exposed through their freshwater supplies.
- Systems of corporate accountability must be introduced at national and international levels to reduce and finally eliminate release of dangerous pollutants that contaminate freshwater supplies by production units in all economically active sectors. As stated in the Hague Declaration, "the effectiveness of pollution control strategies (must be increased) based on polluter pays principles and ...appropriate rules and procedures (considered) in the fields of liability and compensation for damage resulting from activities dangerous to water resources".

#### Energy consumption

Cross-country data show clear linkages between level and type of energy consumption and distribution of income – per capita energy consumption increases with GDP per capita. Reliance on biomass fuel is greater in lower income countries, countries with higher disparities in income distributions, and in countries with relatively small urban populations. In such countries women and children face enormous burdens gathering fuel wood and fetching water, including serious health implications. For example, women and girls are typically responsible for food preparation and are therefore exposed to greater levels of indoor air pollution, resulting in respiratory diseases and eye infections. The other side of the 'inequity coin' in relation to energy is the overconsumption of energy in the Northern countries. The production and use of luxurious goods, including energy-intensive electric household appliances (alarm systems, communication and entertainment systems, Jacuzzis, saunas, dryers, etc.), require excessive individual levels of energy use. Gender differences in access to these goods usually only become apparent when differentiating within households by income and examining consumer decisions about income use. Transport is one of the few issues, which have attracted more research in recent years (see Box 6 below), but for many of these goods, research is sketchy at best.

#### Environmental protection policies

Even more challenging are recent studies, which suggest, as Charkiewicz (1998) argues, that because of the unequal gender division of labour, some policies that promote environmental sustainability may increase the already heavy workloads of women. The promotion of sustainable activities such as labour-intensive organic agriculture, reforestation, household recycling and segregation of waste create additional demands on the time of women. Similarly, Eie (1995) argues that control measures such as eco-labelling place responsibilities on the individual consumers. This can increase women's workload, as they are the main shoppers. Policies, new technologies and measures that aim to promote sustainability must seek to recognise and incorporate the already heavy workload that women shoulder. Services and facilities should be put into place at local community level to help consumers integrate re-cycling, re-use and other responsible practices into their daily routine.

#### **BOX 6: WOMEN AND TRANSPORT**

Mobility and travel are essential to carry out daily activities and just as women's roles vary between societies, classes, rural/urban location and ethnic groups, so do their travel patterns. There are, however, many common features that extend across both developed and developing societies. Even in societies where the need for gender equality is legally recognised, men and women travel very differently. Women are still predominately responsible for childcare and the household. Findings on women's travel patterns show that:

Women make the vast majority of household trips (shopping, taking children to school, doctors and childcare). Countries where the car is the commonest mode of transport for women's travel, e.g. USA, concerns have been raised about women's potentially larger

contribution to global emissions of greenhouse gases, however this is not necessarily true as described below.

- Employed women make shorter work trips than men, and lower-income women tend to be less mobile than men in the same socio-economic groups.
- Car ownership in developing countries is very low. Even in car-owning households women have less access to transport resources available to families.
- In developing country urban areas, the hardships of travelling in congested urban areas falls disproportionately on women, responsible for the essential family business trips.
- Women spend more time than men engaged in transport activities in rural areas of developing countries. They are more likely to use their own energy to transport materials due to an absence of transport services. Having to walk reduces a women's ability to engage in development processes.

Another study of travel in different social groups (Linden 1999, see Hemmati 2000b): Elderly people, persons with low income and women generally travel less extensively and use less energy. Women's lower transport use is related to domestic responsibilities and choice of employment. Typically women rear young children and abstain from working outside the home. When they do work outside home, they often choose to work nearby. Also women's employment is commonly within care and service sectors, located in the centre of cities along major public transport routes. Middle-aged people, high-income groups and men travel more and consume most energy for travelling. More men than women have driving licenses and they have different preferences in relation to leisure activities. Women spend more leisure time locally, while men travel further for leisure activities. Income level is also an important influence on the amount of travel done for work and leisure. In conclusion, the study highlights that large differences exist even in seemingly homogeneous and egalitarian societies such as Sweden. It also helps identify groups whose lifestyles are less sustainable than others and thus aids development of targeted policies, e.g. toward men, middle-aged and high-income groups. The researchers recommend that policies targeting consumption should be accompanied by infrastructure improvements and an increased variety in modes of transport.

#### 3.5 Governance

Good governance systems are built on (1) participation as the foundation of legitimacy in all democratic systems; transparency; accountability; effectiveness and efficiency; responsiveness to the need of all stakeholders, (2) the rule of law; and gender equity. Good governance puts people first. It is indispensable for building peaceful, prosperous and democratic societies. However, it is not gender-neutral, "the discourse, procedures, structures and functions of governance remain heavily skewed in favour of men in general, and certain groups of men in particular" (Ashworth 1996).

#### **Participation**

"There's no doubt that any society that does not bring into the centre the full participation of women, is a loser." UN Secretary General Kofi Annan, 5 June 2001

However, increasing women's participation has not been a priority in many countries. It has remained limited to a minority of women who hold decision-making positions. In several international agreements governments have pledged to ensure that women's empowerment and gender equity were priorities. The UN has designated 30 % as the "critical mass" required to maintain the impetus towards equal, 50/50 representation. Women's participation in sustainable development cannot be divorced from the necessary advances in women's participation in governance processes generally. It is a critical element of Chapter 24 of Agenda 21, where governments are called:

- Increase the proportion of women involved in decision-making for sustainable development.
- Strengthen governmental institutions to systematically bring a gender perspective into government policy making.
- Strengthen NGO capacity.
- Strengthen gender sensitive approaches to research, data collection and dissemination.

Illiteracy and poverty are fundamental barriers to women's full engagement in civic participation, but there are other conditions, such as childcare needs, hours of meetings, access to transportation, which further limit women's participation, even in industrialised countries. Addressing the structural barriers to the lack of women's equal participation and representation will be a key factor for achieving gender equality. Affirmative action and quota systems have often been the most successful strategies to gain the 'critical mass' that will create the chance to equitable representation.

#### Multi-stakeholder processes (MSPs)

In general, participation in political decision-making needs to be founded on clearly defined principles of (transparency, collaboration, learning, equity, flexibility), ground rules (for communication, procedures, agenda and issues of process, facilitation, reporting) and objectives (outputs such as reports, action plans, (inter)governmental processes). Meaningful participation of all parties also requires active supportive role from the coordinating/facilitating body, particularly to ensure equitable access to: information (including policy-based, technical and scientific data); justice; funds; capacity building and training, in addition to creating the space for participation in decision-making and implementing.

MSPs are emerging as an important tool in participation. They are processes that aim to bring together those principle groups who have a "stake" in a particular issue, in new forms of communication, decision finding, decision-making and implementation. MSPs recognise the unique perspectives and contributions of all stakeholders, seeking to involve equitable representation and utilise democratic principles of transparency and ac-

countability. They aim to develop coherent partnerships and strengthen networks within and between stakeholders. MSPs cover a wide spectrum of structures and levels of engagement. There are increasing examples of such processes at all levels of decision-making. Multi-stakeholder processes should be further developed and defined through experimentation, sharing and analysis of experiences. They could provide an appropriate format, if properly managed and resourced. However, to be effective, existing imbalances in power structures need to be overcome, for example:

- Governments and intergovernmental bodies need to operate on the basis of a consistent, predictable, and transparent framework.
- Participation of women as a distinct stakeholder group needs to be ensured, based on a critical analysis of the gender aspects of the issues addressed.
- Training and adequate resources are essential to ensure meaningful participation of all stakeholders.

In the run up to and beyond the World Summit on Sustainable Development, multistakeholder processes could be a key tool in ensuring equitable participation, ownership of the process and effective long-term outcome. Key recommendations in relation to this include:

- eminent persons, ambassadors to the Summit process, advisory panels and other groups of representatives should include an equal number of women;
- development of a common yet flexible framework of stakeholder participation in intergovernmental processes by 2004;
- Earth Summit 2002 to agree a process for review and further development of participation resulting in options put to the UN General Assembly;
- integration of stakeholder participation in all mechanisms of implementation that Earth Summit 2002 (e.g. a "global compact / partnership" for implementing the Millennium Declaration targets, as advocated by RSA Minister Valli Moosa, Sept 2001);
- creation of a trust fund to ensure meaningful participation of all stakeholders in activities that arise from Earth Summit 2002, particularly to support women and those from developing countries.

#### Gender mainstreaming

Gender mainstreaming policies and procedural rules need to be integrated into the work of all government departments, and adequate monitoring mechanisms should be established. Strategies to encourage gender balance in governance and sustainable development include:

- full and equal participation of women in the formulation of all policies and decisionmaking;
- evaluating institutions for gender balance and action on gender issues;

- overcoming women's apathy and lack of understanding of government processes
  with innovative types of outreach, including awareness-raising, capacity-building,
  education and training of women and men; and of all people in decision-making positions in all sectors and at all levels (incl. changing curricula; public campaigns;
  developing gender sensitivity training; guidelines for gender mainstreaming, etc);
- institutional mechanisms for the advancement of women e.g. legislation (CEDAW, national legislation);
- making gender disaggregated information available and supporting relevant research;
- guiding young women towards careers as decision-makers in sustainable development;
- establishing joint women & environment task forces;
- collecting and sharing good practices at local, national and international levels; including peer group review of (good) practice and promoting successful strategies;
- all such efforts must be backed by adequate funding and support, and should be monitored and evaluated for effectiveness and replicability.

#### Gender analysis & gender-sensitive indicators

Effective gender analysis to monitor progress on gender equity and sustainable development requires good gender-disaggregated data, gender-sensitive research and indicators. However, there is a severe lack of adequate data available. For example, in work assessment, caring activities are still categorised as leisure, and few gender-disaggregated environment & health indicators exist. Gender expertise also needs to be further integrated into research, e.g. through scientific advisory bodies and environmental impact assessments (EIA's), and through participation of women and women's NGOs in the development of social-environmental information systems. Integrating social and environmental monitoring is another important strategy.

At the international level a gender review of the current CSD set of sustainability indicators should be carried out and a revised version should be produced. A consistent comparable reporting methodology could be instituted within the UN system to track progress of women in decision-making roles for sustainable development in countries worldwide. Such mechanisms should be promoted among national governments and stakeholders. Progress would be reviewed within the sustainable development process every 5 years, using a common framework. Existing examples of sets of gender indicators includes the Gender Development Index (GDI) of the HDR, which differentiates the traditional human development index of countries by gender. Also the Gender Empowerment Measure (GEM) looks at the number of women with a seat in parliament, the proportion of administrators and managers who are women; proportion of professional and technical workers who are women; women's share or earned income. The Gender Equality Index, developed by the International Statistical Unit, is perhaps the most comprehensive (see Table 1).

TABLE 1: GENDER EQUALITY INDEX

Area of concern	Indicator(s)
Autonomy of the body	Legal protection against and incidence of gender-based violence
	Control over sexuality
	Control over reproduction
Autonomy within the family and household	Freedom to marry and divorce
	Right to custody of children in case of divorce
	Decision-making power and access to assets within the household
Political power	Decision-making in supra-household levels (municipalities, unions, government, parliament)
	Proportion of women in high managerial positions
Social resources	Access to health
	Access to education
Material resources	Access to land
	Access to houses
	Access to credit
Employment and income	Distribution of paid and unpaid labour
	Wage differentials for men and women
	Division of formal and informal labour by gender
Time	Relative access to leisure and sleep
Gender identity	Rigidity of sexual division of labour
Source: Wieringa 1999	

#### 4. THE WAY FORWARD

Throughout international agreements pertaining to women / gender and sustainable development, a number of common strategies and tools have been identified. Particular priorities are:

- the need for access to gender justice in economic, political, social and environmental matters.
- the protection of human rights, and
- the use of adequate tools for gender mainstreaming.

The complexity of the issues as well as rapid development of the world's political, social, economic and environmental state have led to several parallel processes all of which address gender issues and women's participation. The necessary re-integration of this work is essential towards sustainable development. The Earth Summit 2002 process offers an opportunity for such re-integration and for effective gender mainstreaming in sustainable development.

Women played an historic role at UNCED and successfully shaped the final document, Agenda 21, gaining 172 references to women (up from 2 references in the first draft), a strong chapter on women and the recognition of women as one of the major groups. The Women's Environment and Development Organisation (WEDO) and the Network for Human Development (REDEH) are currently coordinating a global women's advocacy platform: the Women's Action Agenda For A Healthy and Peaceful Planet 2002-2015. An international working group was established to prepare a draft and engage in a global consultation process. The document will present priority concerns and recommendations from women around the world, and will be used to raise women's voices effectively in the Summit process. Academics, the wider women's movement, the human rights movement, and other stakeholders worldwide are also planning a series of activities. The high number and diversity of activities will reflect the myriad of points of view and approaches that are indeed necessary to address the issues of gender equality and equity. It will be crucial to support women's NGOs to enable them to participate and deliver their share of expertise, experience, and enthusiasm to the Earth Summit 2002 process. Relevant data and material has been gathered for the recent review efforts such as Beijing+5, WSSD+5, and Istanbul+5. Linkages with the CSW 2002 meeting (focusing on poverty; and natural disasters) will also be crucial.

The 2002 process is an opportunity to review progress made, to look forward and to address urgent and emerging issues. It needs to take a strong focus on people-centred development and on the challenge of integrating the three pillars of sustainability. The 'chain of blame' regarding the lack of implementation of the sustainable development agreements can only be broken by a joint, concerted effort of us all.

"We must build partnerships among all actors - governments, non-governmental organisations, community groups and the private sector - to bring more women to the negotiating table and into decision-making positions." UN Secretary General Kofi Annan, 26 Feb 2001

There has been a general emphasis on government actions for changing conditions. While governments are indeed determining the framework for individual, business and other stakeholder action, government action and changes in government structure have a limited impact. Governments will continue to have a main responsibility for achieving progress on women's / gender issues, but they need to build stronger links with women's NGOs and civil society in general, local public bodies and trade unions, as well as the private sector. More profound, cultural changes will be necessary, not just in laws or government structures. For this to happen, we need concerted efforts of all stakeholders. We need the awareness of all citizens and the majority of people to embrace the necessary changes towards gender equity if we want our societies to prosper and sustainable development become a reality.

"You know, for every dollar a man makes, a woman makes 63 cents.

Fifty years ago, that was 62 cents.

So, with that kind of luck, it'll be the year 3848 before we make a buck."

Laurie Anderson: Beautiful Red Dress, 1998

#### 5. RESOURCES AND REFERENCES

Ashworth, G. 1996. Gendered Governance. An Agenda For Change. Gender in Development Monograph Series No.4. New York: UNDP.

Charkiewicz, E. 1998: Why a Gender Analysis is Important in Developing Effective Policies for Sustainable Consumption and Production. Tools for Transition, Amsterdam, Netherlands.

CSD NGO Women's Caucus 2000. Women & Sustainable Development 2000 – 2002. Recommendations in Agenda 21 and Suggestions for a Review of Implementation.

CSD NGO Women's Caucus. Position papers, resources, links, activities towards Earth Summit 2002. www.earthsummit2002.org/wcaucus/csdngo.htm

Dankelman, I. and Davidson, A. 1988: Women and Environment in the Third World: Alliance for the Future. Earthscan in association with IUCN. London.

Eie, E. 1995: Sustainable Production and Consumption. Key Note Speech for the 'Web', NGO Forum, Beijing, 1995. FOKUS - Forum for Women and Development, Oslo, Norway.

Figueroa, M. 1998: Women, Transport, Energy and the Environment. ENERGIA News, May 1998, 1-4.

Gender Perspectives For Earth Summit 2002 – Energy, Transport, Information for Decision Making. Report on the International Conference, Berlin, 2001. www.earthsummit2002.org/workshop

Grover, S., Flenley, C. & Hemmati, M. 1999. Gender & Sustainable Consumption. Bridging Policy Gaps in the Context of Chapter 4, Agenda 21 "Changing Consumption and Production Patterns". Report to the UN Commission on Sustainable Development 7<sup>th</sup> Session, April 1999. London: UNED-UK.

Haq, U.M. (ed), 1997. Human Development in South Asia. Oxford University Press.

Hemmati, M. & Seliger, K. (eds.) 2001. The Stakeholder Toolkit. A Resource for Women and NGOs. London: UNED Forum www.earthsummit2002.org/toolkits/women/index.htm

Hemmati, M. & Walker Leigh, V. 2000. Women & Freshwater. CSD NGO Women's Caucus Position Paper, www.earthsummit2002.org/wcaucus/csdngo.htm

Hemmati, M. (ed) 1999. Gender & Tourism. Women's Employment and Participation. Report to the UN Commission on Sustainable Development 7<sup>th</sup> Session, April 1999. London: UNED-UK.

Hemmati, M. (with Felix Dodds, Jasmin Enayati, and Jan McHarry) 2001 [in press]. Multi-Stakeholder Processes for Governance and Sustainability. Beyond Deadlock and Conflict. London: Earthscan.

Hemmati, M. 2000a. Women & Sustainable Development: From 2000 to 2002. in: F. Dodds (ed). Earth Summit 2002 - A New Deal. 65-83. London: Earthscan.

Hemmati, M. 2000b. Gender-Specific Patterns of Poverty and (Over-) Consumption in Developing and Developed Countries. In: E. Jochem, J. Sathaye & Daniel Biulle (eds).

Society, Behaviour, and Climate Change Mitigation. Proceedings of IPCC Expert Group Meeting on Social Scientific Approaches to Climate Change Mitigation. 169-190. Klewer Publications.

Human Development Reports (HDR) 1995-2001. New York: UNDP.

IDS, 2001. A man amongst men: can male gender trainers tip the balance? Contribution by Milton Obote Joshua. ILO (2001) Sector dialogues

http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/sector/sectors.htm

Lee-Smith, D. & Hemmati, M. 2000. Women's Land Ownership and Globalisation. *The Network Newsletter*, May 2000, No 20, 7. British Council: Manchester.

Ransom, P. 2000. Women, Pesticides and Sustainable Agriculture. CSD NGO Women's Caucus Position Paper.

Sen, Gita 1999. Gender Mainstreaming in Finance. A Reference Manual for Governments and Other Stakeholders. London: Commonwealth Secretariat.

Social Development Summit / Copenhagen +5 http://www.earthsummit2002.org/wssd

Sustainable Cities Programme (UNEP / UNCHS) 2000. Integrating Gender Responsiveness in Environmental Planning and Management. The Environmental Planning & Management Source Book Series. Nairobi: UNEP / Habitat.

Tate, J. 2001. Home sweet home? Codes for homeworkers http://www.id21.org/society/Insights36art9.html

Tsikata, D. 1995. Effects of structural adjustment on women and the poor. Third World Network. http://www.twnside.org.sg

UN Commission on the Advancement of Women 1997. Gender Equity and the World Bank Group. Report by Women's Eyes on the World Bank October 1997 http://www.interaction.org/caw/wewb4.html

UNAIDS: The Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS www.unaids.org

UNDP / UN DESA / World Energy Council, 2000. World Energy Assessment 2000. http://www.undp.org/seed/eap/activities/wea/

UNED Forum's Stakeholder Toolkit for Women

http://www.earthsummit2002.org/toolkits/women/index.htm — with info on all UN Summits and related Commission documents, NGO documents, compilations of international agreements on particular issues, networking tools, links, etc.

UNED Forum's work on Multi-stakeholder Processes, links and resources http://www.earthsummit2002.org/msp

UNIFEM, The United Nations Development Fund for Women, www.undp.org/unifem

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), 1998: Human Development Report 1998. Oxford University Press.

WECF Women in Europe for a Common Future, Utrecht, The Netherlands, 2000. Persistant Organic Pollutants & Reproductive Health. Background Document for the IPEN Workshop "Women, POPs and Reproductive Health".

WEDO 2000, on pesticides.

Wieringa, S. 1999. "Women's Empowerment in Japan: Towards an Alternative Index on Gender Equality." Paper presented at the First Global Forum on Human Development, sponsored by the Human Development Report Office, United Nations Development Programme, New York, 29-31 July 1999.

WomenAction 2000. Women's organisations activities, material, links, etc. around Beijing+5 www.womenaction.2000.org

Women's Action Agenda For A Healthy Planet 2002: Women's Environment and Development Organisation et al. First draft October 2001. Women's Environment and Development Organisation (WEDO), http://www.wedo.org

WomenWatch: The United Nations Internet Gateway to the Advancement of Women, www.un.org/womenwatch

#### ANNEX

#### **GLOSSARY**

**Gender**: Whereas the term 'sex' refers to biological differences between women and men, the term 'gender' refers to social differences. In societies, women and men fulfil different roles, and social stereotypes describe 'typical' or 'ideal' sets of characteristics of women and men. Based on the societal 'images' of what is feminine and what is masculine, individuals develop gender-specific identities. As a reflection of roles, stereotypes and identities, women and men differ with regard to motivation and behaviour.

"Gender can be defined as the set of characteristics, roles and behaviour patterns that distinguish women from men which are constructed not biologically, but socially and culturally. The sex of an individual is biologically determined, whereas gender characteristics are socially constructed, a product of nurturing, conditioning, and sociocultural norms and expectations. These characteristics change over time and from one culture to another. The concept of gender refers not only to women and men but also to the relations of power between them. Gender relations are constantly being renegotiated in the context of changing political, economic, social, and cultural environments at the local, national and international level." Gita Sen, 1999

Gender analysis reflects the correct information on how resources are allocated between men and women, highlights constraints imposed by women's socially constructed and confined roles, and proposes women-empowering policies. Assessments and indicators that address the key factors and directly relate to peoples everyday lives can be powerful instruments to raise awareness and change behaviour. Gender is a high-impact category with regard to, for example: income level; education; power / decision-making; access to credit; division of labour; access to, ownership and control of natural resources. Information on gender equity must be covered by any set of indicators aiming to capture the state of sustainable development. Social monitoring must be integrated into environmental monitoring in order to achieve sustainable development monitoring.

Gender budget analysis: Gender-responsive budget analysis refers to the analysis of actual government expenditure and revenue on women and girls as compared to men and boys. Gender budgets are not separate budgets for women and they don not aim to increase spending on women specific programmes. Gender budget analysis helps governments decide how policies need to be adjusted, and where resources need to be real-located. It provides women with an indicator of government commitment to address women's specific needs and rights to health care, education and employment.

Gender-responsive budget analysis was pioneered in Australia in 1994, with a federal government assessment of the budget impact on women. Interest in gender-responsive budget analysis, by both governments and NGOs, accelerated following the Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing, 1995. The first initiative was launched in South Africa in 1995 by a group of women's NGOs and a parliamentary joint

committee. This was quickly followed by similar initiatives in Uganda, Tanzania, Switzerland and the United Kingdom. Today there are over 40 initiatives worldwide at varying stages of development.

Gender budget analysis makes women's work economically visible. It shows how revenue collection and changes in tax structure can impact on women differently from men, especially in the case of single mothers and women in the unorganised sector. It creates more transparency and accountability by detailing how money allocated for women is actually spent. It is a tool for increasing productivity and GDP. For example, between 1983 and 1985, real per capita expenditure on health fell by 16 per cent in Zambia. People had to travel greater distances and wait for longer periods of time to get health care treatment. Interviews with Zambian women about how they used their time revealed that they had to spend more time caring for sick family members, including time spent in hospitals providing meals and nursing care and had less time to spend on farming. (For more information, see www.undp.org/unifem and www.gender-budgets.org).

Effective gender analysis: reflects the correct information on how resources are allocated between men and women, highlights constraints imposed by women's socially-constructed and confined roles, and proposes women-empowering policies. Assessments and indicators that address the key factors and directly relate to peoples everyday lives can be powerful instruments to raise awareness and change behaviour. Gender is a high-impact category with regard to, for example: income level; education; power / decision-making; access to credit; division of labour; access to, ownership and control of natural resources. Information on gender equity must be covered by any set of indicators aiming to capture the state of sustainable development. Social monitoring must be integrated into environmental monitoring in order to achieve sustainable development monitoring.

Gender and consumption: Women's and men's motivation differs, ie the ways in which women and men pursue certain shared goals differ. For example, women and men share the need for social acceptance. However, based on their gender-specific roles and identities, they differ with regard to which behaviour will serve the goal of being accepted. Growing up in a society where gender roles and stereotypes prevail and upbringing continues to be gender-specific, individuals develop gender-specific identities. What women and men think and feel about themselves is partly determined by what they have learned they should be like. People assess themselves against these social standards and develop goals of personal development in accordance (or in contradiction) with those standards. Thus, a 'gendered' social environment is reflected not only in attitudes and in overt behaviour but also in the self-concept and in personal goals ('ideal self'). Regarding consumption we know, for example, that women first address the needs of their families, particularly their children, whereas men are more likely to spend resources for their individual needs. These priorities are related to their roles and identities - for example, a 'good woman' will care for others; a 'good man' will show his status through his possessions and habits. Another important aspect, linked to social status, is what determines attractiveness of women and men as potential partners for members of the opposite sex. Whereas women's attractiveness is rather determined by physical attractiveness (as defined by a cultural standard), youth and friendliness, men's attractiveness is more reliant on income level, intelligence, dominance / independence and a sense of humour. Many consumption choices can be co-determined by what makes people attractive – women investing in fashion, cosmetics and make-up, for example, and men in prestigious cars.

Gender mainstreaming: "Mainstreaming a gender perspective is the process of assessing the implications for women and men of any planned action, including legislation, policies or programmes, in any area and at all levels. It is a strategy for making women's as well as men's concerns and experiences an integral dimension of the design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the policies and programmes in all political, economic and societal spheres so that women and men benefit equally, and inequality is not perpetuated. The ultimate goal is to achieve gender equality." (E.1997.L.10.Para.4. Adopted by ECOSOC 17.7.97)

Gender training: Gender training is a tool for transforming attitudes and culture at individual, institutional and community levels. The goal is to change patriarchal values and the structural and institutional practices that subordinate women, as well as to promote practices that reduce gender disparities. Gender trainers must respond to the diverse cultural backgrounds of trainees by developing appropriate modules and training methods. Gender training should be informed by prior knowledge of the cultural background, age, language and perceptions of gender of the people to be trained; Choice of a male or female trainer is based on their facilitating and training skills, not on their gender. As such they potential catalysts for change, to alter attitudes and achieve a more gender-sensitive environment.

**Social norms** describe generally accepted ways of thinking, feeling, or behaving that people in a society agree on and endorse as right and appropriate. There are different social norms for different social groups in societies, such as those describing women's and men's appropriate ways to think, feel and behave. Gender specific social norms define roles for women and men to fulfil. Fulfilling these roles rewards individuals with social acceptance, whereas people who do not comply with gender roles are likely to be sanctioned (e.g. social exclusion).

**Stereotypes** are cognitive representations or impressions of a social group that people form by associating particular characteristics with the group. Many different kinds of characteristics are included in stereotypes, and they can be positive or negative. Some stereotypes accurately reflect actual differences between groups, though in exaggerated form. Other stereotypes are completely inaccurate.

Gender stereotypes can be found in every culture and throughout history. They vary across times and cultures but there are great commonalities such as: Women are supposed to be soft-hearted, caring, submissive, dependent, affectionate, anxious, emotional, sensitive, sentimental, with a sensitive and emotional leadership style. Men are supposed to be aggressive, independent, strong, tough, autocratic, and with a dominant leadership style.

Much research has been directed to the question of how much these stereotypes are reflected in *actual behaviour*, thinking and feeling of women and men. Analyses have shown that men are overall more aggressive than women, particularly regarding physical rather than psychological aggression and in situations where aggression may be dangerous to oneself. Women appear to be easier to influence, particularly when influence is exerted by a group rather than through persuasive messages. Also, the difference is larger when a topic is regarded as 'masculine'. Women are more non-verbally expressive and more non-verbally sensitive than men. As leaders, women are more democratic and men are more autocratic; however, this difference is larger in laboratory studies than of studies of leadership in the 'real world'.

#### RELEVANT INTERNATIONAL AGREEMENTS

#### Earth Summit 1992 / Agenda 21, Chapter 24

Women have considerable knowledge and experience in managing and conserving natural resources. However, the role of women in achieving sustainable development has been limited by barriers such as discrimination and lack of access to schooling, land and equal employment. Chapter 24 addresses many important areas of sustainable development, pointing out barriers towards women's full and equal participation in sustainable development and in public life and making recommendations on what governments should do to overcome these barriers.

Chapter 24 urges countries to increase the proportion of women decision-makers, planners, scientists, technical advisers, managers and extension workers in environment and development fields. It is important to eliminate female illiteracy, assure girls of universal access to primary and secondary education, and provide increased post-secondary training for women in sciences and technology.

#### Governments should:

- ensure a role for women in national and international ecosystem management and control of environmental degradation;
- provide comprehensive health care, including prenatal care and the opportunity to breast-feed, and information on maternal and child health, family planning and responsible parenthood;
- help to reduce the heavy workload on women and girls at home and outside, by working with employers and other organisations to set up affordable nurseries and kindergartens. National programmes are needed to encourage men to share household tasks equally with women;
- provide women with better access to all forms of credit, particularly in the informal sector;
- ensure women's access to property rights, as well as agricultural inputs and implements;
- take all necessary measures to eliminate violence against women, and work to eliminate persistent negative images, stereotypes and prejudices against women;
- develop consumer awareness among women to reduce or eliminate unsustainable consumption, particularly in industrialised countries. This would encourage manufacturers to offer products that are more environmentally and socially friendly;
- begin to count the value of unpaid work, including "domestic" work when measuring the state of the economy.

Another important point is that in Agenda 21 Chapter 24, recommendations are calling mostly upon *governments* to take or initiate action. Other stakeholders are integrated in a less direct way and rather via governments actions having an impact on them than outlining their roles and responsibilities. Recent CSD decisions, however, have incorporated strong recognition of other stakeholders' necessary involvement and collaboration among stakeholders.

It is important to note that women's NGOs activities during the Rio Earth Summit process, particularly the World Women's Congress in Miami, Florida, in 1991, have had a very significant impact on the process and the agreed outcomes. Involvement of women's NGOs should be increased to ensure an effective review for 2002.

## Earth Summit II, the United Nations General Assembly Special Session for the Purpose of an Overall Review and Appraisal of the Implementation of Agenda 21, 1997

For the first 5 year review of implementation of Agenda 21 in 1997, the following issues were identified as particularly important to women and sustainable development (UN DPI 1997): poverty; management of natural resources; water; commercialisation of agriculture; environment and women's health; and environmental activism of women's NGOs.

In the Secretary General's Report on Overall Progress Achieved since UNCED (January 1997), it was stated that "the implementation of specific objectives in the major groups chapters of Agenda 21 has not always achieved the level desired. For example, gender balance in decision-making has still not been achieved and national instruments to this effect are not being enforced" (Section II, para 97).

The Programme for the Further Implementation of Agenda 21, agreed in June 1997, however, does not make as many references and recommendations pertaining to women. Many of the references to women are reaffirming conclusions and recommendations stated in Agenda 21 and observing that the goals set out in 1992 have not yet been met.

At the UN Conferences and Summit following the Earth Summit in 1992, the international community looked at some of the issues addressed in Agenda 21 in more detail and depth. All of them are engaged in follow-up processes, most in 5-year reviews. Every time, attempts were work with a gender perspective, incorporating women's issues and concerns into commitments and recommendations. The following section aims at pointing out the areas that bear particular importance regarding women and sustainable development issues.

#### The International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD), Cairo 1994

ICPD built on and broadened the consensus achieved at previous conferences on population (Bucharest 1974, Mexico City 1984). The major success of ICPD was shifting from focus on population as family planning to women's reproductive rights and reproductive health. ICPD also reflected the widespread recognition that population is inextricably linked to the full range of human development concerns - including poverty alleviation, women's empowerment and environmental protection. ICPD emphasised two themes:

- choices and responsibilities;
- the need to incorporate population considerations into all national and international efforts to achieve sustained economic growth and sustainable development.

The overall aim was to identify actions that will make national policies and programmes more effective in meeting individual needs, especially those of women, and in bringing population into balance with available resources. Among the issues addressed and the goals and strategies agreed at ICPD were:

- availability of family planning as part of a broader package of reproductive health services;
- reduction infant, child and maternal mortality;
- access to education, particularly for girls;
- female-headed households being the poorest of the poor, partly because women have less access than men to training, credit, property, natural resources and betterpaid jobs;
- urban populations;
- youthful populations in many countries and growing numbers of elderly persons.

## ICPD+5, New York 1999: Review of the International Conference on Population and Development

The review document, "Key Actions for the Further Implementation of the ICPD" reaffirms the international consensus agreed at ICPD and builds in many parts on its language, targets and benchmarks. The document sets out a series of recommendations on population and development issues including gender equality, equity and empowerment of women, reproductive rights and reproductive health, resource mobilisation, adolescent sexual and reproductive health and HIV / AIDS. It also addresses issues of male involvement; human rights; and partnerships with civil society in implementation. Specific benchmarks are delineated in the text including the reduction of illiteracy of women and girls, maternal mortality, young people's vulnerability to HIV / AIDS and provision of safe and effective family planning and contraceptive methods. These benchmarks are seen as an important and effective way of guiding individual countries in reaching the goals of the Cairo Programme of Action.

#### The Fourth World Conference on Women, Beijing 1995

The Beijing Platform for Action (PfA) is dealing with 12 critical areas of concern:

- A. Women and poverty
- B. Education and training for women
- C. Women and health
- D. Violence against women
- E. Women and armed conflict
- F. Women and the economy
- G. Women in power and decision-making
- H. Institutional Mechanisms for the advancement of women

- I. Human rights of women
- J. Women and the media
- K. Women and the environment
- L. The girl-child

Sections A, B, C, F, G, H, and K are particularly relevant to women and sustainable development issues. Among these, Section K. might be most directly relevant to the concerns of the Earth Summit 2002 process: Based on a comprehensive analysis of the inter-relationships of crucial factors such as gender equity, poverty, unsustainable patterns of consumption and production, the destruction of ecosystems, the pollution of rural and urban environments and the depletion of resources, it is stated that "women have essential roles to play in the development of sustainable and ecologically sound consumption and production patterns and approaches to natural resource management". Section K recommends actions by governments, Local Authorities, international organisations, private sector institutions and NGOs to

- involve women actively in environmental decision-making at all levels;
- integrate gender concerns and perspectives in policies and programmes for sustainable development;
- strengthen or establish mechanisms at the national, regional and international levels to assess the impact of development and environmental policies on women;

Recommendations are focusing on participation of women as environmental experts, managers and educators; poverty elimination; information provision and capacity-building for women; addressing research gaps; and the eradication of environmental hazards that particularly affect women. It is clearly pointed out, that co-ordination between institutions working on gender issues, on the one hand, and those working on environmental issues, on the other hand, at all levels is necessary in order to appropriately address the pressing issues.

## Beijing +5, UN General Assembly Special Session, June 2000: "Women 2000: Gender Equality, Development And Peace for the 21st Century"

The special session of the General Assembly, "Women 2000: gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century" adopted a Political Declaration and an outcome document on future actions and initiatives. An analysis by the UN Division for the Advancement of Women (DAW) of the Beijing+5 Outcome Document, issued June 2000, states that the Political Declaration strongly reaffirms that governments have the responsibility to implement the Beijing Platform for Action. The Platform, therefore, remains the reference point for governmental commitment to women's rights in the 12 critical areas of concern. The outcome document strengthened the Platform in some areas through making the actions more focused, and encompassing additional issues which emerged or gained on importance in the last five years. The provisions related to women and health go beyond Beijing in putting strong emphasis on the gender aspects of HIV/AIDS pandemic and STIs, malaria and tuberculosis pointing out to their disproportionate impact on women's and girls health and calling for proper policies and measures to address these challenges. Progress can also be noted with regard to the human

rights of women and the issue of violence against women. The outcome document also constitutes a step forward with regard to the issues of trafficking in women and girls and the associated forms of violence by addressing them in a holistic manner.

While outlining the changes which have taken place during the last five years under the conditions of globalisation, structural transformation and economic transition, the outcome document emphasises the gender dimension of the challenges presented by globalisation. It stresses the gender effects of changing patterns of production, work, and accelerated technological advances in information and communication, pointing out to their uneven impacts on women. While globalisation brought greater opportunities to some women, many others have been marginalised due to deepening inequalities among and within countries. Consequently, the outcome document calls for measures to address those new challenges. They include: analysis of and policy responses to major reasons why women and men are differently affected by job creation and retrenchment; ensuring equal access to social protection systems to provide safeguards against the uncertainties and changes in conditions of work; facilitating employment for women, through inter alia removal of fiscal obstacles, simplification of administrative procedures, promotion of adequate social protection, and access to risk capital. The outcome document has strongly reaffirmed the commitment made to mainstreaming as the key strategy for promoting gender equality in the Beijing Platform for Action, and further elaborated in the ECOSOC Agreed Conclusions 1997/2 and in other General Assembly and ECOSOC resolutions.

The efforts also include, but are not limited to, working to ensure that there is more equal participation of women in all bodies and processes in the work of the United Nations. Efforts are being made to encourage the nomination of women as well as men on committees, tribunals, expert group meetings, training programmes and fellowship programmes.

NGOs, in a joint statement of the Linkage Caucus issued June 9, 2000, expressed disappointment with the Outcomes Document. They registered their regret over the lack of political will on the part of some governments and the UN system to agree on a stronger document with more concrete benchmarks, numerical goals, time-bound targets, indicators, and resources aimed at implementing the Beijing Platform. Still, NGOs felt that some important steps were taken. From their perspective the issues strengthened in the Beijing +5 Outcomes document are within the areas of health; violence; globalisation; economy; human rights; and political empowerment.

Reviewing Section K. does not seem to have been a major priority in the run-up to Beijing+5. Some Regional preparatory meetings have not even addressed women and environment issues at all. The online discussion on Section K (one of the 12 held by DAW prior to the Special Session) has not been very active, in terms of numbers of active participants as well as messages or interactive discussions. Women and environment issues do not feature prominently Section K in the outcome document, apart from some references, for example to natural disasters, and biodiversity and traditional knowledge.

#### The World Summit on Social Development (WSSD), Copenhagen 1995

The Copenhagen Declaration and Programme of Action on Social Development deal with 10 Commitments:

- Creating an enabling environment for social development;
- Eradicating absolute poverty;
- Supporting full employment;
- Promoting social integration based on the enhancement and protection of all human rights;
- Achieving equality and equity between women and men;
- Attaining universal and equitable access to education and primary health care;
- Accelerating the development of Africa and the least developed countries;
- Ensuring that structural adjustment programmes include social development goals;
- Increasing resources allocated to social development;
- Strengthening cooperation for social development through the UN.

Commitment 5 is obviously relevant to women and sustainable development issues. However, Commitments 2, 4, 6, 7, and 8 are important for us as well. All of them address issues, which affect women and men differently in most cases, and all of them incorporate some kind of a gender perspective.

## Copenhagen +5, UN General Assembly Special Session, June 2000: "Achieving Social Development for All in a Globalising World"

The General Assembly adopted an outcome document entitled "Further initiatives for social development" which consists of a political declaration reaffirming the Copenhagen Declaration on Social Development and Programme of Action of the World Summit for Social Development; a review and assessment of the implementation of the outcome of the Summit; and proposals for further initiatives for social development. A report prepared by the UN Division for Social Development, provides a summary and analysis of the outcome document (see http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/geneva2000/ and http://www.earthsummit2002.org/wssd for more information).

#### The World Summit on Human Settlements, Habitat II, Istanbul 1996

The main themes of the Habitat II Conference were

- adequate shelter for all,
- sustainable human settlements in an urbanising world.

Section III.D. of the Habitat Agenda deals specifically with "Gender Equality". However, the primary role of women in human settlements is strongly recognised throughout the document and several clauses on gender and women were included in the Habitat Agenda. Clauses in Section D.III. and elsewhere address the following issues: women's full and equal participation in urban planning and management; women's equal access to resources, services and opportunities to employment, inheritance, ownership, credit, personal development, and decision-making; women's equal access to safe drinking water and sanitation; women's empowerment and poverty eradication; combating social exclusion and discrimination; reviewing structural adjustment in the light of gender spe-

cific impacts; practical methods to integrate gender perspectives in human settlements development; gender disaggregated data; building partnerships between people and government; education and training for women; shelter policies benefiting vulnerable groups.

#### Istanbul +5

The June 2001 Review particularly looked at progress made on:

- Action at the national and local levels;
- Partnership and the role of civil society;
- Monitoring and assessment;
- International Co-operation.

All countries had been invited to prepare a report on national and local implementation of the Habitat Agenda, reflecting a wide range of views from different stakeholders, in addition to the government perspectives. Countries participated by monitoring and evaluating their own performance on meeting their national plan of action through the collection of information such as urban indicators, and by identifying best (good) practices in improving the living environment. The Best Practices Initiatives, promoting learning by example, was one of the major outcomes of Habitat II. As part of its review, each country has been asked to re-establish its broad-based (and supposedly genderbalanced National Committee) to promote dialogue between stakeholders and create consensus on what has been achieved. UNCHS has used information from countries' review processes to compile a synthesis of main trends and issues relating to each of the commitments made in the Habitat II agreement. The UNCHS material highlighted changes in policy and legislation since Habitat II, institutional weaknesses, obstacles encountered, and a general overview of experiences. The Review Process also considered new challenges and impacts, for example, globalisation, which has increased rapidly since Habitat II.

Countries have taken the Habitat II recommendations and adapts them to meet specific circumstances. Making the Habitat Agenda real is about helping people use the ideas and outcomes of the conference in developing solutions to the problems they face in their own towns, cities and villages. Local authorities, communities and individuals all have a role in building sustainable and healthy urban living conditions. Local Agenda 21 programmes, environmental improvement projects or community-based neighbourhood campaigns focused on self-help and local quality of life are starting points. Contact your local authority or municipality to find out what's happening. Join national campaign groups or other focal points keeping the pressure on decision-makers. Raise your own awareness and share any useful information.

For more information on the Istanbul +5 outcomes see www.unchs.org and also www.istanbul5.org. Also see http://www.lifeonline.org/ for background material and multi-media sources on Habitat issues.

#### The World Food Summit (WFS), Rome 1996

The Declaration and Programme of Action of the World Food Summit constitute the most comprehensive international commitments and agreements on

- global food security;
- enhancing and empowering women's key role in household food security; and, in
  developing countries, throughout the food chain (production, harvesting, storage,
  processing/preservation, transport, marketing), and in the conservation of biodiversity and management of land, forest and water resources.

The agreements also instituted a monitoring and review process at regional and global levels towards the benchmarks being set.

#### WFS Follow-Up

The follow-up process to World Food Summit reached a milestone in September 2000 with a meeting of the FAO Committee on World Food Security. The commitments under review were dealing with the following issues:

- 1. An enabling environment designed to create the best conditions for the eradication of poverty and for durable peace, based on full and equal participation of women and men, which is most conducive to achieving sustainable food security for all.
- 2. Implementing policies aimed at eradicating poverty and inequality and improving physical and economic access by all, at all times, to sufficient, nutritionally adequate and safe food and its effective utilisation.
- 5. Preventing and being prepared for natural disasters and man-made emergencies and to meet transitory and emergency food requirements in ways that encourage recovery, rehabilitation, development and a capacity to satisfy future needs.
- 7. Implementing, monitoring, and following up the WFS Plan of Action at all levels in cooperation with the international community.

The reviews of follow-up reports on Commitments 1 and 2 will be particularly relevant to take into account when reviewing achievements and failures in the area of women and sustainable development.

Subsequent reviews will take place biannually, leading up to the mid-term review of 2006.

The 5 year-review, to be held in November 2001 in Rome, has recently been postponed until June 2002.

#### **Conventions**

### Convention on Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CE-DAW)

Regular national reporting to the CEDAW Committee by governments (often complemented by reports from women's NGOs) provides information on progress towards eliminating all forms of discrimination against women. The issues covered in national reports overlap with what would be required to review Agenda 21, Chapter 24.2.c; the obstacles mentioned therein constitute elements of discrimination against women. Reports to the CEDAW Committee and parallel NGO reports provide, for example, important information about legal measures and institutional mechanisms and therefore should be taken into account when reviewing the implementation of 24.2.c.

Progress on the Conventions that came out of Rio should equally be brought into the process of reviewing and looking forward. Particularly important in terms of women and sustainable development are the Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, particularly in Africa (CCD), with its emphasis on participation (of women), and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), with its emphasis of women's role in preservation of biological diversity. Work on the Framework Convention on Climate Change (FCCC) has only just begun to look at social and cultural aspects, including gender issues.

#### **ILO labour standards**

Training and promotion: Human Resources Development Convention, 1975 (No. 142) http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C142 and

Recommendation No. 150 http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?R150

Wages: Equal Remuneration Convention, 1951 (No. 100) http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C100

Family Rights: Workers with Family Responsibilities Convention, 1981 (No. 156) http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C156

Maternity rights: Maternity Protection Convention (Revised), 1952 (No. 103) http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C103

Against discrimination in the work place: The Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111) http://ilolex.ilo.ch:1567/scripts/convde.pl?C111

# UN AGENCIES AND INTERGOVERNMENTAL BODIES WORKING ON WOMEN / GENDER & SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT ISSUES: BY ISSUES

#### Finance, trade and investment

World Bank: http://www.worldbank.org/gender/

UNIFEM: feminization of poverty, trade liberalization

(http://www.undp.org/unifem/economic.htm)

UNDP: micro-finance (http://www.undp.org/gender/programmes/#Microcredit)
UNCDF United Nations Capital Development Fund / Special Unit for Micro-Finance

http://www.uncdf.org/sum/index.html

UN DAW / CSW (http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/wecon.htm)

#### Globalisation

UNHCR: environmental impact of refugee operations (http://www.unhcr.ch - click on "Envi-

ronment" under "Quick Find")
INSTRAW: www.un-instraw.org

UNFPA: migration & urbanization; education and capacity building / empowering women; re-

productive health (http://www.unfpa.org/modules/)

(http://www.ilo.org/public/english/employment/gems/index.htm)

#### **Education and Capacity Building**

UN DAW / CSW: education and training of women

(http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/weduc.htm)

UNESCO: education for women (http://www.unesco.org/education/index.shtml)

UNDP: education & capacity building (http://www.undp.org/gender/capacity/)

#### **Poverty Eradication**

UNIFEM: http://www.undp.org/unifem/ec\_pov.htm

UNRISD: gender, poverty and well-being, integrating gender into development policy;

www.unrisd.org

UNDP: social development and poverty elimination division (http://www.undp.org/gender/,

http://www.undp.org/gender/programmes/poverty\_programmes.html)

#### Food

FAO: Gender & food security, rural economics, distribution of labour etc

(http://www.fao.org/Gender/gender.htm)

World Food Programme: commitment to women (http://www.wfp.org - click on "Policies" and

"Mission Statement") Health http://www.who.org/frh-whd/

UNFPA: reproductive health (http://www.unfpa.org)

UN DAW / CSW: women and health diagnosis

(http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/platform/health.htm)

UNDP: HIV and gender (http://www.undp.org/hiv/publications/gender/genderprefe.htm

#### Science and Technology

UNIFEM: gender and telecommunications (http://www.undp.org/unifem/ec\_tech.htm)

UNESCO: training and educating women

(http://www.unesco.org/general/eng/programmes/science/women/index.html)

#### **Tourism**

World Tourism Organisation: child prostitution

#### **Transport**

World Bank: gender and transport seminar

(http://www.worldbank.org/html/fpd/transport/pol\_econ/tsr.htm)

#### **Environmental Security**

UNHCR: environmental impact of refugee operations (http://www.unhcr.ch – click on "Environment" under "Quick Find")

CBD (http://www.biodiv.org)

UNEP (http://www.unep.org; http://www.unep.ch)

#### **Housing and Shelter**

UNCHS (Habitat): http://www.unhabitat.org/default.asp - click on "ProgrammeS" AND "Gender Policy"

#### Land

FAO: (http://www.fao.org/Gender/gender.htm),

UNDP: desertification and the role of women (http://www.undp.org/seed/unso/women/)

UNCHS: Campaign on Secure Tenure which will include a policy on women and land (http://www.unchs.org/tenure), in addition to on-going work of the Women & Habitat Programme

#### Conventions

CEDAW: http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/committ.htm and -/archive.htm

UNCCD: Integrated community driven approaches (including women) (http://www.unccd.int)

UNCBD: www.biodiv.org

## UN AGENCIES AND INTERGOVERNMENTAL BODIES WORKING ON WOMEN / GENDER & SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT ISSUES: BY INSTITUTIONS

**CCD:** integrated community driven approaches (http://www.unccd.int)

**CEDAW Committee:** http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/committ.htm and -/archive.htm

**FAO:** gender & food security – rural economics, distribution of labour, etc.; women & land issues (http://www.fao.org/Gender/gender.htm); World Food Programme: commitment to women (http://www.wfp.org - click on "Policies" and "Mission Statement")

**ILO:** more and better jobs for women; data on women & men in employment sectors, incl., for many countries, data on working hours and wages by gender (http://www.ilo.org/public/english/employment/gems/index.htm)

**INSTRAW:** finance / trade / investment (http://www.un-instraw.org/); temporary labour migration of women (http://www.un-instraw.org/en/instraw\_gains/publications/tlwm.pdf); databases of publications and other online tools on many issues

**UNAIDS:** gender and HIV / AIDS; www.unaids.org

**UNCCD:** integrated community driven approaches to combat desertification and drought (http://www.unccd.int)

**UNDP GIDP & UNDP:** http://www.undp.org/gender/

**UNCDF** United Nations Capital Development Fund / Special Unit for Micro-Finance http://www.uncdf.org/sum/index.html

**UNESCO:** education & capacity building / empowering women; training & educating women in the areas of science & technology (http://www.unesco.org/education/index.shtml; http://www.unesco.org/general/eng/programmes/science/women/index.html)

**UNFPA:** migration & urbanization; education and capacity building / empowering women; reproductive health (http://www.unfpa.org/modules/)

**UNHCR:** environmental impact of refugee operations (http://www.unhcr.ch – click on "Environment" under "Quick Find")

UNIFEM: feminization of poverty; poverty eradication

(http://www.undp.org/unifem/economic.htm; http://www.undp.org/unifem/ec\_pov.htm); gender & telecommunications (http://www.undp.org/unifem/ec\_tech.htm)

**UNRISD:** gender poverty and well-being, inegrating gender into development policy (http://www.unrisd.org)

**WHO:** health; environmental health (http://www.who.org/frh-whd/)

**World Bank:** feminization of poverty (http://www.worldbank.org/gender/); trade liberalization; gender & transport (http://www.worldbank.org/html/fpd/transport/pol\_econ/tsr.htm)

World Tourism Organisation (WTO / OTM): sex tourism and child prostitution

#### HEINRICH BÖLL FOUNDATION

The Heinrich Böll Foundation, affiliated with the Green Party and headquartered in the Hackesche Höfe in the heart of Berlin, is a legally independent political foundation working in the spirit of intellectual openness.

The Foundation's primary objective is to support political education both within Germany and abroad, thus promoting democratic involvement, sociopolitical activism, and cross-cultural understanding.

The Foundation also provides support for art and culture, science and research, and developmental cooperation. Its activities are guided by the fundamental political values of ecology, democracy, solidarity, and non-violence.

By way of its international collaboration with a large number of project partners – currently numbering about 200 projects in 60 countries – the Foundation aims to strengthen ecological and civil activism on a global level, to intensify the exchange of ideas and experiences, and to keep our sensibilities alert for change. The Heinrich Böll Foundation's collaboration on sociopolitical education programs with its project partners abroad is on a long-term basis. Additional important instruments of international cooperation include visitor programs, which enhance the exchange of experiences and of political networking, as well as basic and advanced training programs for committed activists.

The Heinrich Böll Foundation has about 160 full-time employees as well as approximately 300 supporting members who provide both financial and non-material assistance.

Ralf Fücks, Dr. Claudia Neusüß, and Petra Streit comprise the current Executive Board.

Two additional bodies of the Foundation's educational work are: the "Green Academy" and the "Feminist Institute".

The Foundation currently maintains foreign and project offices in the USA and the Arab Middle East, in Bosnia-Herzegovina, Brazil, Cambodia, the Czech Republic, El Salvador, Israel, Kenya, Pakistan, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, and an EU office in Brussels.

For 2002, the Foundation has almost 35 million €public funds at its disposal.

#### WORLD SUMMIT PAPERS

#### Sustainability and Justice

Documentation of a conference held in Berlin World Summit Papers No. 9 (in preparation)

#### Rio + 10 and the North-South Divide

An essay by Wolfgang Sachs World Summit Papers No. 8, Berlin 2001, 16 pages

#### Globalization and Poverty - an Ecological Perspective

By Roldan Muradian and Joan Martinez-Alier World Summit Papers No. 7, Berlin 2001, 36 pages

#### Globalización y Sustentabilidad

Un ensayo de Wolfgang Sachs World Summit Papers No. 6, San Salvador 2001, 30 pages

#### From Rio to Johannesburg. Contributions to the Globalization of Sustainability

By Jürgen Trittin, Uschi Eid, Sascha Müller-Kraenner and Nika Greger World Summit Papers No. 5, Berlin 2001, 36 pages

#### Von Rio nach Johannesburg. Beiträge zur Globalisierung der Nachhaltigkeit

Von Jürgen Trittin, Uschi Eid, Sascha Müller-Kraenner und Nika Greger World Summit Papers No. 4, Berlin 2001, 40 Seiten

#### Breaking the Impasse. Forging an EU Leadership Initiative on Climate Change

A policy paper by Hermann E. Ott and Sebastian Oberthür World Summit Papers No. 3, Berlin 2001, 36 pages

#### 10 Years After Rio. Debating Development Perspectives

A concise outlook on sustainable development implementation By Karl H. Segschneider World Summit Papers No. 2, Chiang Mai 2001, 70 pages

#### **Towards the World Summit on Sustainable Development**

A discussion paper by the South African NGO Caucus on the World Summit for Sustainable Development

World Summit Papers No. 1, Berlin 2001, 32 pages

#### To order these publications:

Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung, Rosenthaler Str. 40/41, 10178 Berlin

Tel.: ++49 30/285 340; fax: ++49 30/285 34 109

E-mail: info@boell.de; for downloads: www.boell.de; www.worldsummit2002.de

#### Other Publications related to the World Summit

### World Summit 2002-Newsletter No. 1 of the Washington Office of the Heinrich Böll Foundation

By Nika Greger. May 2001, available in German, English, Spanish at <a href="https://www.worldsummit2002.org">www.worldsummit2002.org</a>

## Gender Perspectives for Earth Summit 2002 – Energy, Transport, Information for Decision-Making

Report on the International Conference at Jagdschloss Glienecke, 10-12 January 2001, Berlin. Edited by the Federal Ministry for the Environment and the Heinrich Böll Foundation. Berlin, February 2001, 42 pages.

Download at <a href="https://www.boell.de/downloads/gd/genderpersp2002.pdf">www.boell.de/downloads/gd/genderpersp2002.pdf</a>

## New World Conferences: New prospects for global environment and development financing?

Prospects for breaking new ground in financing. Essay by Barbara Unmüssig. Only available as Download at www.boell.de/downloads/rio+10/rio10unmuessig.pdf

#### **Globalization and Sustainability**

Essay by Wolfgang Sachs. Documentations, Papers & Reports of the Heinrich Böll Foundation Nr. 5, Berlin 2000, 32 pages.

Download at www.boell.de/downloads/nachhaltigkeit/sachsglobal.pdf